

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

<u>2025</u>

This handbook summarizes the policies and practices of Douglas-Cherokee Economic
Authority. It is not intended to cover everything, nor is it a contract of employment. From time to time changes may be needed, and Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority reserves the right to make such changes, with or without advance notice to employees. Our Employment-At-Will relationship with all employees permits you or DCEA to end our relationship for any reason at any time. No policy, benefit or procedure implies or may be construed to imply this handbook to be an employment contract for any period of time.

Welcome!

This handbook has been prepared so that you may be better informed about policies, procedures, benefits, and other issues concerning your employment with Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority. We appreciate the service of those of you who have been with us for some time, and we welcome our new employees.

This manual contains information that will ensure the smooth operation of our Agency and your well being as an employee here. Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority reserves the right to delete, amend or modify these policies and practices at its sole discretion and without advance notice to employees.

All employees are expected to read and be familiar with the policies in this manual, and all those with authority to do so have a duty to administer these policies fairly and consistently and to enforce them when necessary. If you have questions about anything presented here, please see your supervisor for clarification/explanation or consult the Director of Human Resources.

It is our hope that you will enjoy working with Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority and that you will be able to advance steadily as you make yourself more valuable to the Agency for our mutual benefit.

The policies and revisions in this handbook are effective immediately, March 17, 2025. All earlier policies are replaced by this version/edition.

A current copy of the Employee Handbook can be found at www.douglascherokee.com.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 Applicability
- 1.2 Mission of Agency
- 1.3 Availability of Employee Handbook
- 1.4 Flexibility Required Due to Program Variations
- 1.5 Chief Executive Officer of DCEA
- 1.6 Nondiscrimination in Agency Operations
- 1.7 Disability Policy
- 1.8 Title VI
- 1.9 Immediate Family
- 1.10 Program Procedures Manual
- 1.11 Procedure for Amendment
- 1.12 Retention of Records
- 1.13 Withdrawal of Services
- 1.14 Dissemination of Information
- 1.15 Staff Meetings
- 1.16 Program Advisory Committees

SECTION 2: EMPLOYEE STATUS AND BENEFITS ELIGIBILITY

- 2.1 Classifications
- 2.2 Benefits Eligibility
- 2.3 Hire Date
- 2.4 Work Week

SECTION 3: EMPLOYEE SELECTION AND HIRING

- 3.1 General Information
- 3.2 Emergency Hiring Procedures
- 3.3 Persons Ineligible for Employment
- 3.4 Immigration Law Compliance
- 3.5 Hiring the Executive Director
- 3.6 Process for Hiring Employees
- 3.7 Head Start / Early Head Start Staff
- 3.8 Background Checks
- 3.9 Motor Vehicle Checks
- 3.10 Employee References

SECTION 4: ORIENTATION

- 4.1 Allowances During Orientation / Disciplinary Probation
- 4.2 Restrictions During Orientation / Disciplinary Probation
- 4.3 Orientation Items

SECTION 5: PERSONNEL RECORDS

- 5.1 Personnel Action Forms
- 5.2 Personnel Files
- 5.3 Accounting Files

SECTION 6: WORKING HOURS

- 6.1 Normal Working Hours
- 6.2 Sign-In/Out Procedure

- 6.3 Hours for Exempt Personnel
- 6.4 Hours for Non-Exempt Personnel
- 6.5 Working Hours for Non-Exempt While Traveling
- 6.6 Tardiness and Absences
- 6.7 Unforeseen Absences
- 6.8 Absence Due to Inclement Weather
- 6.9 Other Closings
- 6.10 Unexpected or Extraordinary Circumstances

SECTION 7: EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

- 7.1 Rate of Compensation
- 7.2 Payment Method
- 7.3 Deductions
- 7.4 Records of Time Worked for All Employees
- 7.5 General Salary Increase Guidelines
- 7.6 Merit Increases
- 7.7 Cost-of-Living Increases
- 7.8 Promotions or Realignment of Duties
- 7.9 Special Considerations for Head Start / Early Head Start
- 7.10 Bonus, Incentives, and Rewards

SECTION 8: BENEFITS

- 8.1 Holidays
- 8.2 Annual Leave
- 8.3 Sick Leave
- 8.4 Bereavement Leave
- 8.5 Family and Medical Leave Policy
- 8.6 Notice to Employees of Rights & Responsibilities Under FMLA
- 8.7 Tennessee Family Leave Act
- 8.8 Other Leave Without Pay
- 8.9 Military Leave Policy
- 8.10 Unauthorized Absence
- 8.11 Jury Duty
- 8.12 Voting Time
- 8.13 Group Medical Insurance
- 8.14 Other Benefits
- 8.15 COBRA General Notice

SECTION 9: EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES & LIMITATIONS

- 9.1 New Employees
- 9.2 General Responsibilities
- 9.3 Public Relations
- 9.4 Security
- 9.5 Visitors in the Workplace
- 9.6 Workplace Violence
- 9.7 Confidentiality, Safeguarding Information & HIPPA
- 9.8 Employee Dress
- 9.9 Technology and Electronic Communications
- 9.10 Social Media Policy
- 9.11 Restrictions on Political Activities
- 9.12 Code of Conduct

- 9.13 Employee Participation in Councils and Meetings
- 9.14 Requests for Funds
- 9.15 Outside Employment
- 9.16 Other Restrictions
- 9.17 Alcohol and Drug Policy
- 9.18 Non-Smoking Policy
- 9.19 Harassment
- 9.20 Travel & Vehicle Usage
- 9.21 Telephone Usage
- 9.22 Inventory and Restrictions on Property
- 9.23 Listing of Non-Consumable Items
- 9.24 Purchase of Property and Services
- 9.25 Whistleblower Policy
- 9.26 ID Badge Policy
- 9.27 Retaliation Policy

SECTION 10: EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS

- 10.1 Introduction
- 10.2 Evaluators
- 10.3 Schedule
- 10.4 Process of Evaluation

SECTION 11: DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

- 11.1 Introduction
- 11.2 Types of Action
- 11.3 Suspension
- 11.4 Disciplinary Probation

SECTION 12: EMPLOYEE COMPLAINT PROCEDURE

SECTION 13: TERMINATION

- 13.1 Resignation
- 13.2 Dismissal
- 13.3 Lay-Off
- 13.4 Retirement
- 13.5 Death

SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION

1.1 APPLICABILITY

Welcome to Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority!

This handbook is for your information and designed to acquaint you with Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority ("DCEA" or "Agency") and provide you with information about working conditions, employee benefits and some of the policies affecting your employment. You should read, understand and comply with all provisions of the handbook. It describes many of your responsibilities as an employee and outlines many of the programs developed by DCEA to benefit employees. One of our objectives is to provide a work environment that is conducive to both personal and professional growth.

This handbook is being made available to all Agency employees. Its purpose is to provide general guidelines about Agency policies and procedures for employees; however, it does not contain promises to any employee about how any particular situation will be handled. It is a guide to assist you in becoming familiar with some of the benefits and obligations of your employment. Employees may make suggestions for possible changes to the Handbook. Suggested changes will be considered, but it may not be possible to make all the changes that are presented. A form for suggesting changes is provided in the DCEA website under the Employee Page/Downloadable Documents/Employee Handbook Suggestions.

All employment with DCEA is voluntarily entered into and "at will", meaning that the employee is free to resign at will at any time, with or without cause. Similarly, DCEA may terminate the employment relationship at will at any time, with or without notice or cause, so long as there is no violation of applicable federal or state law. Policies set forth in this handbook are not intended to create a contract, nor are they construed to constitute contractual obligations of any kind or a contract of employment between DCEA and any of its employees. The provisions of the handbook have been developed at the discretion of management and, except for its policy of employment-at-will, may be amended, supplemented, or cancelled at any time, at DCEA's sole and absolute discretion. These provisions supersede all existing policies and practices, and this policy manual will generally not be revised without the express written approval of the Executive Director. The Agency has the right to suspend enforcement of any policy in the handbook due to emergencies, pandemics, national or local disasters, or similar events which are beyond control of the Agency.

Specific policies pertaining to employees within a particular program operated by the Agency will be maintained by the director of that program in the Procedures Manual.

1.2 MISSION OF THE AGENCY

Mission: Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority's mission is to provide resources, tools and opportunities that help low-income families and individuals of all ages achieve personal, economic, and social stability.

Goal Statement: Douglas-Cherokee's goals advance its mission. The goals are to:

- (1) reduce barriers to personal, economic and social stability preventing low-income families and individuals from achieving self-sufficiency;
- (2) mitigate the effects of poverty for the elderly, and people with disabilities, who may not be able to achieve self-sufficiency:
- (3) develop and sustain partnerships among supporters and providers of services to low-income people;
- (4) increase the capacity of the Agency to help clients achieve positive outcomes;

(5) working with partners, create and/or improve community development opportunities that result in increased self-sufficiency for low-income community residents.

1.3 AVAILABILITY of EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

A copy of the Agency Employee Handbook will be made available to each employee and to each Board Member. A copy will be placed in the office of each program. Employees will be asked to sign a statement that they have read the policies and that the policies are understood and accessible to employees. The Handbook is also available on the Douglas Cherokee website at www.douglascherokee.com.

1.4 FLEXIBILITY REQUIRED DUE to PROGRAM VARIATIONS

Any questions concerning the policies contained herein will be addressed by the Director of Human Resources and the Executive Director of the Agency, who may consult with the Personnel Committee of the Board of Directors.

Exceptions to the Employee Handbook may be allowed on a program-by-program basis by arrangement with the Executive Director. Consideration of such exceptions will be made after the Program Director has submitted a written plan for program-specific policy to the Executive Director. The plan should address the following issues:

- The policy to be changed
- The reason a change is needed
- The proposed wording of the program-specific policy
- The expected impact of the program-specific policy

Upon approval of a program-specific policy change, the Program Director will inform all affected central office and program staff prior to implementing the change. All new provisions to this handbook or to any DCEA manuals should be reviewed by all Program Directors to evaluate the impact of any changes on individual programs.

Programs may have DCEA employees who work in host locations such as school systems. Programs and employees must follow the established rules of the host locations. If the rules of the host locations are in direct conflict with DCEA regulations, the Program Director should work with the Executive Director to resolve any conflict.

1.5 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER of DCEA

The chief executive officer of Douglas Cherokee Economic Authority is the Executive Director. In his/her absence, the Fiscal Officer is authorized to function as Executive Director. If both the Executive Director and Fiscal Officer are absent, the Director of Human Resources will be authorized to function as the chief executive officer for the purpose of handling problems or emergencies within the Agency. The Executive Director is the only person who has the authority to sign contracts or agreements which obligate or bind the Agency. The Executive Director has the authority to appoint a designee for any action requiring his/her approval.

1.6 NON-DISCRIMINATION in AGENCY OPERATIONS (Updated 5/10/18)

DCEA offers equal employment opportunity without regard to race, color, religion, gender (including sexual orientation and gender identity), age, citizenship, ethnicity, national origin, disability, marital status, genetic information, veteran status, or any other protected characteristic as required by federal, state and local laws, executive orders and regulations pertaining to fair employment practices. DCEA is also prepared to make reasonable accommodations to allow employment of otherwise qualified individuals with disabilities. See policy with regard to the Americans with Disabilities Act at Section 1.7.

This policy extends to recruitment, employment, promotion, DCEA-sponsored training programs, education opportunities, compensation, leave, tuition assistance, transfers, lay-offs, return from lay-offs, termination, social and recreational programs, use of Agency facilities, and all other terms or conditions of employment. No exclusions will be made on the grounds of race, color, religion, gender (including sexual orientation and gender identity), age, citizenship, ethnicity, national origin, disability, marital status, genetic information, or veteran status unless those exclusions are based upon bone fide job qualifications mandated by funding guidelines. Discrimination, harassment, and retaliation of any kind, whether from an employee or a third party, will not be tolerated and will be dealt with swiftly. If any individual believes that they have been subjected to any discrimination, harassment, or retaliation, they should report the same to his or her direct supervisor and/or the Human Resources Department.

1.7 DISABILITY POLICY (Updated 6/14/2022)

It is the desire and intent of DCEA to comply with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, ADA Amendments Act of 2008 (ADAAA) and Pregnant Workers Fairness Act. DCEA hires, places, and promotes individuals on the basis of qualifications and merit. All employment practices are free from discrimination of any kind, including discrimination on the basis of real or perceived disability. Further, DCEA expressly prohibits harassment and/or retaliation of any kind against individuals based on an actual or perceived disability.

An otherwise qualified individual with a disability who can perform the essential functions of a position, with or without reasonable accommodation, shall be considered equally with other candidates or employees with the same or similar skill, experience, or other requirements of the position. A good faith effort will be made to provide any needed reasonable accommodation to an otherwise qualified candidate who applies for a position or employee who is able to perform the essential functions of his or her job, either with or without reasonable accommodation. Any applicant or employee who requires an accommodation in order to perform the essential functions of the job should contact the Human Resources Department and request such an accommodation. DCEA will engage in a good faith interactive process with the employee or applicant to determine what, if any, effective accommodations can be made for the employee or applicant. If the accommodation is reasonable and will not impose an undue hardship on the operation of its business, DCEA will make the accommodation.

If an individual believes that they have been subjected to prohibited discrimination, harassment, or retaliation because of his/her disability, or if an individual believes that they witnessed any form of prohibited discrimination, harassment, or retaliation because of disability, the individual should bring his or her complaint or observation to his or her immediate supervisor and/or the Human Resources Department as soon as possible. For more information regarding DCEA's policies for addressing complaints of discrimination or harassment, please refer to the Nondiscrimination in Agency Operations Policy or the Harassment Policy. Discrimination, harassment, and/or retaliation of any kind, whether from an employee or a third party, will not be tolerated and will be dealt with after a prompt and thorough investigation.

1.8 TITLE VI (Updated 5/10/18)

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act prohibits discrimination in the delivery of services on the grounds of race, color, or national origin. All DCEA employees must comply with Title VI. No person may be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program, activity, or benefit because of race, color, religion, gender (including sexual orientation and gender identity), age, citizenship, ethnicity, national origin, disability, marital status, genetic information, or veteran status unless those exclusions are based upon bone fide job qualifications mandated by program service eligibility criteria.

Discrimination, harassment, and retaliation of any kind, whether from an employee or a third party, will not be tolerated and will be dealt with after a prompt and thorough investigation. If an individual believes that they have been subjected to discrimination, harassment, or retaliation, they should **immediately** take the complaint to their immediate supervisor and/or the Human Resources Department.

Additionally, no person shall be excluded because of their limited English proficiency, or their inability to speak English. It is the responsibility of the Agency to provide a translator where required to enable applicants or program participants to access DCEA programs. Persons with limited English proficiency must have meaningful access to all services for which they are eligible. The client eligibility guidelines of each funded program shall be strictly observed. All employees are required to comply with these policies.

1.9 IMMEDIATE FAMILY

For the purposes of DCEA operations, members of the immediate family are defined as:

SpouseChildStep-childParentSiblingStep-parentGrandparentGrandchildStep-sibling

In-law (parent, child, sibling)

At the discretion of the appointing authority, individuals who have a relationship which merits similar consideration will be added. If a funding source has a more restrictive definition of immediate family or nepotism, additional family members will be added, or deleted, to this list for the specific grant. The term family member is not used in the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) regulations. Under FMLA, an employee can only care for the individuals mentioned in the FMLA statute. Please refer to the FMLA policy (Section 8.7) for information concerning FMLA leave.

1.10 PROGRAM PROCEDURES MANUAL

Each DCEA program should maintain a Program Procedures Manual. That manual should detail the specific procedures followed to operate the program in addition to the Employee Handbook. The procedures in that manual should complement the Employee Handbook and comply with these policies. The procedures of programs will be considered extensions of the Employee Handbook and will govern the employees of that program. Any program specific requirements contained in a Program Procedures Manual that may require some exception to the policies contained in this handbook and that are otherwise applicable to employees must be approved by the Executive Director.

Whenever possible, the Program Procedures Manual will be maintained in the Executive Office and by the Program Directors. Where possible, a copy will be maintained in each office where program staff is assigned. However, in those cases where it is not feasible to provide a copy at every site, the Manual will be kept in the Central Office and staff may review it there. Program Directors are responsible for explaining and providing appropriate access to program procedures to new employees.

Some examples of the items contained in a Program Procedures Manual include, but are not limited to:

- Budget Summary
- List of positions, job descriptions
- Work schedule
- Physical examination requirements, if applicable
- Staff orientation procedures
- Client eligibility criteria

- Record keeping/service documentation requirements
- Staff meeting schedule and purpose
- Mileage and per diem reimbursement procedure
- Procedure for requisitioning supplies
- Procedure to report absences and/or obtain leave authorization
- Tardiness policy
- Procedures for reporting accidents and filing insurance claims:
 - · liability insurance, property (fire and theft) contact Central Office at 423-587-4500, ext. 123
 - worker's compensation contact Central Office at 423-587-4500, ext. 112
- Access to keys to doors, files, etc.
- · Background check and drug screen requirements, if applicable
- Use of vehicles, if applicable
- Handling of cash

1.11 PROCEDURE for AMENDMENT

The Executive Director will review the Employee Handbook, or have it reviewed, as needed. The Executive Director will recommend necessary changes to the Personnel Committee of the Board of Directors. The Personnel Committee will consider the suggested changes and make a recommendation to the Head Start / Early Head Start Policy Council when the changes affect Head Start / Early Head Start, and the DCEA Board of Directors. Head Start / Early Head Start suggested changes will be made by the Program Director to the Executive Director. They will then be forwarded to the Head Start / Early Head Start Policy Council and then to the DCEA Board of Directors. Necessary changes may also be initiated by the Personnel Committee and recommended to the Board.

The Board of Directors will approve or disapprove recommended amendments. The Board may make changes in the recommended amendments before giving approval. Amendments approved by the Board will be distributed to each program to be placed in all employee copies of the Employee Handbook. Program Directors are responsible for communicating these changes to all employees in their program.

1.12 RETENTION of RECORDS

Refer to the DCEA Accounting Policies and Procedures manual for a record retention listing.

1.13 WITHDRAWAL of SERVICES

Should situations necessitate the withdrawal of services from an area, appropriate notification must be provided prior to the termination of services, both to employees and to the community. This notification will inform the employees and the community of any services that are to be eliminated. It will be generated by the Program Director and approved by the Executive Director and the Board of Directors before publication. The notification should be communicated as the Agency deems most appropriate.

1.14 DISSEMINATION OF INFORMATION

DCEA maintains a website, <u>www.douglascherokee.com</u>, which contains job listings and other pertinent information for employees. Information will also be distributed through the Employee Web Service (EWS).

1.15 STAFF MEETINGS

Regular meetings of all employees working in each DCEA center, office or program should be held. These meetings will facilitate interagency communication through discussion of the progress of the Agency, concerns, ideas for improvement, and planned changes. The administrative staff is responsible for holding these meetings or seeing that they are held. Each employee should attend all

applicable staff meetings except when their absence is approved by the appropriate administrative staff member.

1.16 PROGRAM ADVISORY COMMITTEES

Many Agency programs are required to have advisory committees and councils. A list of advisory committee and Policy Council members must be presented to the Board of Directors each year for approval.

SECTION 2 - EMPLOYEE STATUS AND BENEFITS ELIGIBILITY (Updated 10/5/17)

2.1 CLASSIFICATIONS

All DCEA paid (non-volunteer) workers will be classified in one of four categories: Exempt Employees, Non-Exempt Employees, Independent Contractors, or Program Participants. More information on the classification of exempt and non-exempt employees may be obtained from the Department of Labor. Also, Section 7 of this handbook describes how employee compensation is handled for the exempt and non-exempt classifications.

- A. Exempt Employees: Those positions which are exempt from the overtime pay requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA").
- B. Non-Exempt Employees: Non-exempt positions are not exempt from overtime pay requirements under the FLSA.
- C. Independent Contractors: Workers who provide services independently in a particular field pursuant to a written independent contractor agreement with DCEA. Independent Contractors are not employees of the Agency and will not be entitled to any Agency benefits.
- D. Program Participants: Workers who are Participants in specific programs required to follow the guidelines of the funding source. These workers are not generally eligible for benefits. However, all employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k)-retirement savings plan subject to specific plan terms and conditions.

2.2 BENEFITS ELIGIBILITY

Employees are eligible for benefits based on their employment status. (All employees fall within one of the following six status categories.)

- A. Orientation Status: Orientation status is fully addressed in Section 4.
- B. Regular Full-Time Status: Employees who have completed their orientation period and who are scheduled to work a minimum of 30 hours per week are considered regular full-time employees and are eligible for full employee benefits.
- C. Regular Part-Time Status: Employees who have completed their orientation period and who are scheduled to work less than 30 hours per week are considered regular part-time employees. Employees who are scheduled to work at least 22.5 hours per week, but less than 30 hours per week will be eligible for the accrual of annual and sick leave benefits as well as holiday pay as described in Section 8. Employees who are scheduled to work at least 12 hours or more per week will only be eligible for holiday pay if in active paid status. Employees who are scheduled to work less than 12 hours per week are not eligible for benefits. All employees, regardless of

the number of hours worked, are eligible to participate in the 401(k)-retirement savings plan, subject to specific plan terms and conditions.

- D. Seasonal Temporaries and Emergency Hires: Employees who are hired on an "as-needed" basis. They are not eligible for annual leave, sick leave, holidays, or any program paid benefits. They are not subject to the Lay-Off option. Employment beyond any initially stated period does not in any way imply a change in employment status. Temporary employees retain that status unless and until notified of a change. Seasonal emergency hires and temporary employees may only work up to a maximum of 60 days. Program Participants are also a part of this category. All employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k)-retirement savings plan subject to specific plan terms and conditions.
- E. Lay-Off Option: The use of the Lay-Off Option in any program may be authorized by the Executive Director at the recommendation of the Program Director. Persons employed under this option will work for a specified time each program year and will be subject to lay-off for the period of time that their services are not needed, or funds are not available. These employees may also be eligible for other benefits according to their employment status. At its sole discretion, the Agency may continue to pay the employer's share of group health insurance premiums for those hired under the Lay-Off Option during the time the employee is laid off. The maximum amount of time an employee may be laid off under this option is 66 **working** days. After 66 working days, the lay-off will become permanent and the person will no longer be eligible for any benefits.
- F. Substitutes and Continuing on Call Status, Not Benefits Eligible: Employees who work on an as needed, on call basis. These employees are generally not eligible for benefits, except that all employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k)-retirement savings plan subject to specific plan terms and conditions.

2.3 HIRE DATE

Any Agency employee who leaves Douglas-Cherokee employment for less than 66 working days may be eligible for reinstatement. A reinstated employee will retain their hire date and any remaining sick leave or annual leave. If an employee is re-hired more than 66 working days after separation, all previously available benefits will be lost. This does not apply to FMLA and other legally protected leaves of absence. If an employee is called back to work and elects not to return, that position will be filled according to normal hiring procedures (refer to Sec. 3).

If an employee is separated for more than 66 working days and then returns to work, hiring and orientation procedures for new employees will be followed.

2.4 WORK WEEK

The work week will begin on Wednesday at 12:01 a.m. and end on Tuesday at midnight.

SECTION 3 - EMPLOYEE SELECTION AND HIRING

3.1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Applicants from within the Agency will be given special consideration for vacant positions based on their job performance and ability. Please refer to Section 3.6 for information regarding recruiting and job advertisements. Advertisements shall be made available to the public through several different media outlets when appropriate. All interviewed candidates who are not hired should receive a written notice informing them that they were not selected for the position. Letters should not be sent to

applicants who are not interviewed, unless required by the funding source. Unsolicited applications do not need to be recognized in writing. All applications will remain active for 60 days. When none of the applicants meet the requirements of a position, the position will be reopened for applications and the process will start again with recruitment.

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority relies upon the accuracy of information contained in the employment application, as well as the accuracy of other data presented throughout the hiring process and employment. Any misrepresentations, falsifications, or material omissions in any of this information or data may result in the exclusion of the individual from further consideration for employment or, if the person has been hired, termination of employment.

The Personnel Action Form is used to record employee personnel changes such as job status, titles, and pay. A Personnel Action Form must be completed on each new employee by the program staff and signed by the appropriate staff members. The original is kept in the employee's personnel file.

Tests, which are applicable to a job, may be used if they are given to all persons considered. The test must be given in a manner that will not exclude any applicant in any protected class.

Any Agency employee who is separated for less than 66 working days will be eligible to be reinstated and credited with previously available benefits. However, benefits will be frozen and will not continue to accrue during the separation. If an employee is re-hired more than 66 days after separation, all previously available benefits will be lost. The only exception is with employees who are hired under the lay-off option (refer to Sec 2.2E). If an employee is called back to work and elects not to return, that position will be filled according to normal hiring procedures.

3.2 EMERGENCY HIRING PROCEDURES

An employee may be hired without following the regular advertising and interview procedures if:

- 1. A vacancy occurs suddenly, and an employee is needed immediately, not allowing time for advertisement and interviews, or,
- 2. An employee is needed for twelve weeks or less, making advertisement and interviews not feasible.

An employee hired under this section cannot work more than twelve weeks. If the position is to extend beyond twelve weeks, the regular hiring procedure must be followed during the emergency employment. All employees hired under this section are classified as temporary.

3.3 PERSONS INELIGIBLE for EMPLOYMENT

An employee may not supervise a member of his/her immediate family. Immediate family members are defined in section 1.9. A person is ineligible to be employed in a position where the supervisor of that position is a member of his/her immediate family. A person is ineligible to be employed if they, or a member of their immediate family serves on the Board of Directors or on the Head Start / Early Head Start Policy Council.

3.4 IMMIGRATION LAW COMPLIANCE

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority is committed to employing only United States citizens and/or other individuals who are legally authorized to work in the United States. DCEA does not unlawfully discriminate on the basis of citizenship, ethnicity or national origin.

In compliance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, each new employee as a condition of employment, must complete the Employment Eligibility Verification Form I-9 and present required documentation establishing identity and employment eligibility. DCEA participates in E-Verify.

3.5 HIRING the EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Updated 10/5/17)

- A. The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors will appoint a Transition and Search Committee within 15 days of any notice it receives of an impending vacancy in the Executive Director position to plan and carry out a transition to a new Executive Director. Refer to the DCEA Succession Plan for details.
- B. Selection: When qualified candidates have been found, the Search Committee will meet to screen the applications. The committee will select the best qualified candidates. Reference checks will be performed on the best qualified candidates and the Search Committee will then interview these candidates. Based on qualifications, references, and interviews, an order of priority for offering employment will be established by the Search Committee.

If Agency funding levels are such that Head Start funds comprise 50% or more of the indirect cost expenditures, prior to making an offer, the Search Committee should refer to regulations outlined in the Head Start Act (642)) as well as any Head Start Performance Standards related to the hiring of an Executive Director.

After fulfilling any actions that might be required by Head Start regulations, the Committee's representative will then contact one of the previously screened candidates in order of priority. An offer of employment will be made contingent upon successful background, credit check, acceptable proof of education, and Board approval.

C. Hiring: When the candidate and the Search Committee agree on the terms of employment, the committee will recommend to the Board of Directors that the candidate be employed.

The person hired as Executive Director will receive a Letter of Understanding from the Board Chairperson. The Letter of Understanding will address issues such as:

- 1. The position for which the person is hired and the funding source;
- 2. The effective date of employment (the first day of work);
- 3. Salary;
- 4. The employee's supervisor;
- 5. A copy of the employee's job description;
- 6. A statement similar to the following:

"Each DCEA employee has access to a copy of the Agency's Employee Handbook. This will be made available to you when you start work and should be read during the first two weeks of employment."

- 7. A statement similar to the following:
 - "Any offer of employment will be made contingent upon a successful background check and credit check, as required, and acceptable proof of education, and the appropriate documentation required by the I-9 form.
- 8. A statement similar to the following:

"As with all DCEA employees, your first six months, in this position will be your orientation period. Your job performance will be evaluated after six months. These evaluations will show your strengths and weaknesses and are used as tools to help you perform your duties more efficiently. At the end of the orientation period, one of three employee actions will be recommended to the Board Chairperson by your supervisor: (1) transferal to regular status, (2) transferal to additional orientation period, or (3) dismissal. All employees, even those who transfer to regular status after their orientation period,

are employees at will which permits you or DCEA to end the employment relationship for any reason at any time."

9. Any special conditions connected with the employment.

For the person to be employed, the Letter of Understanding must be signed and returned by the agreed upon date. If the agreement is not returned as specified, the position should be offered to the next candidate in line. If no other candidate is available, the position should be reopened for applications.

D. <u>Announcement</u>: A news release announcing the hiring with a photograph of the newly hired Executive Director should be sent to all newspapers in the service area within two weeks of employment.

3.6 PROCESS FOR HIRING EMPLOYEES

This policy applies to all Agency programs. Head Start has additional processes for hiring. Please refer to Section 3.7. Upon the resignation or termination of an employee, or the creation of a new position, the Program Director / Supervisor will complete a Personnel Requisition, attach a job description, and forward it to the Human Resources Director, prior to advertising for the position. After approval by the Executive Director, the Director of Human Resources (HR) will begin the process of advertising the open position as appropriate.

Position announcements will be distributed within the Agency by email or hard copy to each Program Director, the Executive Director and Fiscal Officer by the Director of Human Resources when appropriate. It will then be the responsibility of each Program Director to distribute the information to their employees. Positions may also be advertised outside the Agency in the appropriate format at the same time.

Douglas Cherokee employees may be promoted/transferred to other positions upon the recommendation of the supervisor and/or Program Director subject to the approval of the Executive Director. If the position is not filled with a current DCEA employee, it should then be advertised through the Agency's intranet and externally with sources appropriate for the position being filled. The Director of Human Resources will place all newspaper advertisements. Newspaper advertisements should run at least once. In some instances, where turnover in certain positions is high, it may be more economical to place a newspaper ad twice per year for those positions and pull from that applicant pool as the need arises. Field staff positions will be advertised in the county in which the person will be employed. Announcements should include duties, qualifications and deadline for applications, Equal Opportunity Employer statement, and to whom the applications should be sent.

Human Resources and the appropriate Director will work together to review all applicants and schedule interviews. The Program Director and/or other appropriate staff, as well as the Human Resources Director, if possible, will conduct final interviews. HR will conduct the reference checks on applicants. Following the interviews, an order of priority for offering employment will be established based on qualification, references, interviews, and recommendations.

When hiring the Fiscal Officer, if Agency funding levels are such that Head Start funds comprise 50% or more of the indirect cost expenditures, the Director should refer to the Head Start Act and any Head Start Performance Standards related to the hiring of key staff for requirements prior to making an offer. After fulfilling any actions that might be required by the Act and Standards, steps below should be followed.

With the approval of the Executive Director, employment will be offered according to the order of priority. The person hired will receive a Letter of Understanding from the Executive Director.

Supervisors should check with Human Resources for the appropriate letter for the new staff member. After the interviews, all applications, applicant rating sheets and documentation should be retained for three years from the date of receipt.

All applications and resumes received (both solicited and unsolicited) will remain active for 60 days. Any unsolicited resumes and applications received should be forwarded to the Human Resources Director.

The use of interns or other unpaid persons in Agency programs must be approved in advance by the Executive Director.

3.7 HEAD START / EARLY HEAD START STAFF (Updated 10/5/17)

- A. <u>General</u>: Promotion of existing Head Start / Early Head Start employees will receive priority when practical, as part of the Professional Development Plan.
- B. Promotion Transfer of Head Start / Early Head Start Field Staff:

 Head Start / Early Head Start field staff may be promoted/transferred to other field staff positions upon recommendation of the component supervisor and/or Program Director subject to the approval of the Personnel Committee of Policy Council and the Executive Director.

Field Staff who have been laid off (See Sections 13.3) may be recalled at the discretion of the Head Start / Early Head Start Director and the Executive Director. This decision will be based on the need for the position and approval by the Policy Council.

Head Start/Early Head Start staff are required to have an initial health examination and communicable disease screening or test and a periodic re-examination (as recommended by their health care provider or as mandated by State, Tribal, or local laws). After initial health exam and communicable disease screening, all staff are required to follow re-examination schedules as required by Tennessee Child Care Licensure.

- C. <u>Hiring the Head Start Director</u>: The Executive Director will appoint a Transition & Search Committee to plan and carry out the transition to a new Head Start Director. The committee must include the Policy Council Chairperson and/or the Head Start parent representative to the Board. When qualified candidates have been found, the Search Committee will select the best qualified candidates and interview these candidates. Based on qualifications, references and interviews, an order of priority for offering employment will be established. Prior to making an offer, the Search Committee should refer to regulations outlined in the Head Start Act (642(c)) as well as any Head Start Performance Standards related to the hiring of a Head Start Director. After fulfilling any action that might be required by Head Start regulations, the Director of Human Resources will contact one of the candidates in order of priority. The offer of employment will be made contingent upon successful background and credit check, acceptable proof of education, and Board approval. When the candidate and the Search Committee agree on the terms of employment, the committee will recommend to the Board of Directors and Policy Council that the candidate be employed.
- D. <u>Hiring and Non-Administrative Staff:</u> Head Start / Early Head Start will follow guidelines in the DCEA, Inc. HS/EHS bylaws. The interviewing group will agree on the selected applicants to be offered employment. Employment is contingent on the approval of the Head Start Director, Policy Council, as well as other possible contingencies such as background check (Section 3.8) and/or drug screen.

- E. <u>Substitutes:</u> Head Start / Early Head Start recruits and maintains approved substitutes to work when an immediate need exists due to staff absences, trainings, or vacancies. Area Coordinators schedule substitutes as needed to ensure adult/child ratios.
- F. <u>Temporary Staff:</u> Additional temporary workers may be hired at the request of the Head Start / Early Head Start Director, if funds are available (according to section 2.2D)

3.8 BACKGROUND CHECKS

Douglas-Cherokee conducts background checks for certain positions based on program requirements for the purpose of evaluating internal or external applicants for employment, promotion, reassignment, or retention as an employee. Background checks will be performed for all positions which require employees to go into homes or work with children, youth, or seniors, and for any grant programs which may require them. The background check should be conducted after a conditional offer of employment is made and the results must be received by the Agency prior to the new employee beginning work. The Agency reserves the right to conduct a background check on any employee or applicant. The Agency will pay for the first background check. However, if additional background checks are required, the employee must pay for the cost of them. These background checks may be conducted by a third-party consumer reporting Agency and may include, but not be limited to, information concerning criminal background, character, credit worthiness, education, employment history and personal references. Examples of other resources which may be checked, depending upon program and job requirements, may include but not be limited to, the Elderly and Vulnerable Abuse Registry, Sexual Offender Registry, and the Felony Offender Registry.

The background check will be conducted after a conditional offer of employment has been extended. Although disqualification is possible, in accordance with federal and state laws, a previous conviction does not automatically disqualify an applicant from consideration for employment. Depending on a variety of factors, the candidate may still be eligible for employment with Douglas-Cherokee.

However, if an applicant attempts to withhold information or falsify information pertaining to previous convictions or background the employee will be disqualified from further employment consideration in any position with the Agency due to falsification of an application.

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority will ensure that all background checks are conducted in compliance with applicable federal and state statutes, such as the Fair Credit Reporting Act.

The records received pursuant to this policy must only be used for approved purposes. If the records or information is misused (intentional or unintentionally), the Executive Director and the Director of Human Resources should be notified immediately. Depending upon the nature of the offense, the offending employee may be subject to disciplinary conduct up to and including termination. In addition, federal or state crimes may be charged for the willful, unauthorized disclosure of criminal history record information.

3.9 MOTOR VEHICLE CHECKS

Effective January 1, 2010, Motor Vehicle Record checks will be performed on all employees who drive Agency owned vehicles. MVR checks will be conducted on new employees who will be driving Agency owned vehicles after a conditional offer of employment has been made. After the initial check, rechecks will be conducted every three years for employees who have driving responsibilities.

Only Agency employees may drive Agency owned vehicles. The vehicles may be used only for appropriate program use. Refer to Sec. 9.20 for additional requirements for employees who drive Agency owned vehicles.

3.10 EMPLOYEE REFERENCES

No one is eligible to give a work-related reference except the Director of Human Resources or the Head Start Human Resources Manager. Work references will only confirm employment dates, job title and full-time or part-time status. If someone is contacted for a reference, they should insure that the contact understands that they are giving a personal reference and not speaking on behalf of Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc.

SECTION 4 - ORIENTATION

This policy applies to all employees of Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority (DCEA) except for temporaries, substitutes, program participants and emergency hires. The first six months of employment with DCEA constitute an orientation period, during which certain benefits will not be available to employees. During the orientation period, employees should be given feedback from their supervisor to provide a continuous assessment of their performance in the new position.

All new, rehired and promoted employees work on an orientation basis for the first six months after their date of hire or promotion. Employees who are promoted within DCEA must complete a secondary orientation period of the same length with each reassignment to a new position. Absences (other than FMLA or other legally protected leaves) may extend the orientation period subject to the discretion of the Program Director. If DCEA determines that the designated orientation period does not allow sufficient time to thoroughly evaluate an employee's performance, the orientation period may be extended for a specific period.

Beginning May 1, 2011, all new employees hired on or after that date must be in paid status for a total of six months (or 130 working days) to complete their orientation period. An employee who is absent (not in paid status) during their orientation period will have their orientation period extended. Employees, who are hired under the lay-off option and are laid off prior to completing the orientation period, will complete their orientation period when they return from the lay-off, depending upon how long the layoff period lasts. If the layoff period is for longer than 66 days, the former employee will be required to restart the orientation period.

In cases of promotions, an employee who, in the sole judgment of management, is not successful in the new position can be removed from that position at any time during the orientation period. In this event, management will attempt to return the employee to his or her former position or to a comparable job for which the employee is qualified, depending on the availability of such positions and the needs of the organization, at the sole discretion of management.

All employees must understand that their employment is for no definite period of time and that, just as you may terminate your employment at any time without notice or cause, so too may the Agency terminate your employment at any time without notice or cause. This remains true during and even after successful completion of an orientation period.

In consideration of your employment, you agree to conform to DCEA rules and regulations, and you understand that no representative or agent of DCEA, with exception of the Executive Director, has any authority to enter into any agreement for employment for any specified period of time or to make any agreement contrary to this policy. Any agreement for employment for a specified time must be in

writing and must be signed by the employee and by the Executive Director of DCEA. In no fashion does this guideline, handbook, or anything else presented to you in written or verbal form serve as a guarantee (promised or implied) of future employment.

The supervisor will evaluate each new employee after three months and again at the end of the six-month orientation period. At the end of the employee's orientation period, the supervisor should complete a Personnel Action Form (PAF). The Executive Director will take one of the following actions, based on the recommendation of the Program Director and other applicable supervisory personnel, and the action will be recorded on the written evaluation and on the Personnel Action Form:

- 1. Transfer to regular status
- 2. Continuation of the orientation period for no more than three (3) months
- 3. Dismissal

4.1 ALLOWANCES DURING ORIENTATION / DISCIPLINARY PROBATION

- A. All employees on Orientation or Disciplinary Probation will be allowed days off due to illness as explained in Section 8.3.
- B. All employees on Orientation or Disciplinary Probation will accumulate annual leave, as explained in Section 8.2.
- C. An employee may take accumulated annual leave during orientation if the Program Director and/or applicable supervisor(s) determine that the employee's absence would not be detrimental to the Agency.
- D. Employees who are on Disciplinary Probation will have access to the Complaint Procedure (see Section 12). Employees who have not completed their orientation period but have been employed more than six (6) months will have access to this procedure.

4.2 RESTRICTIONS DURING ORIENTATION / DISCIPLINARY PROBATION

- A. An employee whose employment ends for any reason during an initial orientation period will be paid for any accumulated annual leave.
- B. No employee will be allowed to take annual leave while on Disciplinary Probation.
- C. No salary increases, including cost of living adjustments, are allowed while on Disciplinary Probation.

4.3 ORIENTATION ITEMS

An employee's first days in a job should be spent in orientation. The orientation schedule should be arranged by administrative staff and may include conferences with other staff members, meetings, and visits to county offices/centers and community resources. The following items should be included in each employee's orientation:

- 1. Signing the Letter of Understanding, if not done previously.
- 2. The employee's job description and classification.
- 3. Reading and discussing the Employee Handbook and the Program Procedures Manual and signing the statement acknowledging reading the Handbook.
- 4. Explanation of the structure and activities of all parts of the Agency.
- 5. Explanation of benefits to those who are eligible.
- 6. Explanation of the orientation period.
- 7. Explanation of performance evaluations, including the form used for the new employee's position.
- 8. Time and attendance reports, Employee Web Service (EWS) entry and leave requests.
- 9. Mileage reimbursement
- 10. Request for out-of-area travel.
- 11. Reimbursement for travel expenses.
- 12. Purchase requisitions if it applies to the position.

- 13. Program eligibility guidelines.
- 14. In-kind contribution forms, if applicable.
- 15. Personnel Action form.
- 16. Completing W-4 form.
- 17. Person conducting orientation will physically look at employee's social security card to compare the name and number with that on the W-4 form.
- 18. Specific program information applicable to the new employee.
- 19. Designated supervisor will place any documents required in Section 5 in the personnel file.
- 20. Complete Form I-9 and copy documents.
- 21. Harassment policy.
- 22. Hatch Act
- 23. Title VI & HIPAA Training
- 24. 24. Code of Conduct

<u>SECTION 5 - PERSONNEL RECORDS</u>

5.1 PERSONNEL ACTION FORMS

A Personnel Action Form (PAF) must be completed for any action involving a change in the employee's status, position, classification, wage, cost center/distribution codes, work hours, etc. This action form must be completed and signed by the Program Director and approved by the Head Start Human Resources Manager (for Head Start / Early Head Start employees), the Director of Human Resources and Executive Director before the action is effective. The original copy of the PAF will be retained in the employee's personnel file. PAFs are to be generated by the program staff. In some instances, employees may be asked to sign PAFs as well.

5.2 PERSONNEL FILES

Comprehensive personnel files will be kept for each employee on all personnel actions involving the employee. Because of the sensitive nature of some information in personnel files, they will be maintained in the Central Office. These cabinets will be securely locked during non-duty hours or when unattended. Personnel files will include, but not be limited to the following: Employees may contact the Human Resources Office for access to their personnel file.

- A. Application for employment
- B. Personnel Action Forms (original)
- C. Signed Letter of Understanding
- D. Job description
- E. Signed form that the employee has read Sections 1.6, 9.19 and 9.27 in DCEA's Employee Handbook
- F. Reference checks
- G. Employee evaluations
- H. Warnings
- I. Reprimands
- J. Any employee forms required for a particular program, background check forms if required
- K. Signed alcohol and drug policy
- L. Proof of education
- M. Signed copies of the Code of Conduct
- N. Signed verification of Title 6 & HIPAA training
- O. Forms I-9 and medical information are maintained in separate files.

No medical records will be contained in any employee's personnel file.

5.3 ACCOUNTING FILES

Employee records needed for supporting documentation for accounting records will be maintained in accounting while the program is in operation. These records include, but are not limited to time and attendance sheets, payroll records, PAF (copy), mileage and per diem sheets, and cumulative leave records (without any specific medical records or information).

SECTION 6 - WORKING HOURS (Updated 7/1/2024)

Work schedules for employees vary throughout our organization. Supervisors will advise employees of their individual work schedules and record the scheduled hours per week on the employee's Personnel Action Form. Staffing needs and operational demands may necessitate variations in starting and ending times, as well as variations in the total hours that may be scheduled each day and week. The Program Director must approve any changes in work schedules in advance. The Executive Director must approve any permanent schedules other than the normal 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday and 8:00 a.m. to 1:30 p.m. on Friday.

6.1 NORMAL WORKING HOURS

Centers and offices should be open from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday and 8:00 a.m. to 1:30 p.m. on Friday. The Program Director may approve schedule changes for up to five days and must notify the Executive Director by email. Office schedule changes of more than five consecutive days must be approved by the Executive Director. Justification for schedules submitted should accompany the requests.

For a person working a full 7.5-hour day or more, an uninterrupted, unpaid one-hour meal period is included. Each employee is expected to utilize the hour lunch break unless specifically approved by their supervisor to follow a different schedule. Each employee who is scheduled to work six (6) consecutive hours, must have a minimum of a thirty (30) minute unpaid rest break or meal period within that six (6) hours.

Meal periods and breaks will be scheduled to maintain coverage of centers and offices. During a meal period, employees will be relieved of all active responsibilities and restrictions. For a normal 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. day, the meal period should begin no earlier than 10:30 a.m. and end no later than 2:00 p.m. The meal period must be within six hours of beginning or ending work and cannot be taken during the first hour of scheduled work. Should circumstances necessitate closing an office for lunch, lunch closing times must be prominently posted. When used in this Employee Handbook, the term "working days" means any Monday through Friday during a particular time period.

6.2 SIGN-IN / OUT PROCEDURE

Accurately recording time worked is the responsibility of every employee. Federal and state laws and funding sources require DCEA to keep an accurate record of time worked.

Sign-in/out logs should still be used to reflect when employees are in or out of the building for safety purposes. Employees should sign in when entering the building and sign out when leaving the building. It is understood that the logs do not reflect the actual work time. All Sign-In/Out Logs will be kept on file in the Central Office as designated by the Fiscal Officer.

Most employees will record their time in the Employee Web Service (EWS). Employees should record when they begin and end work, record their meal period and any other break or leave time. Those who do not have access to an Agency computer, will record their time on paper time sheets.

All scheduled time must be accounted for, and all time worked must be recorded. Any questions or time recording discrepancies should be reported to the employee supervisor promptly. Any time that will be unpaid will be leave without pay and must be approved in advance by the supervisor and Program Director.

Co-workers are prohibited from recording time for one another. This, and or any other manipulation and/or falsification of time records will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination.

6.3 HOURS for EXEMPT PERSONNEL

The normal work schedule is 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday and 8:00 a.m. to 1:30 p.m. Friday. Exempt employees are generally expected to work the hours the office is open. (See Section 6.1) The actual time worked each day will be recorded in EWS. The time worked should average 37.5 hours per week. It is expected that most hours will be worked between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. on Monday through Thursday and 7:00 a.m. and 2:30 p.m. on Friday. Any recurring differences from this schedule require advance approval from the Executive Director.

Exempt employees are classified by the Fair Labor Standards Act as being exempt from overtime provisions governed by the FLSA and implementing regulations. Exempt staff members are hired on a salaried basis and are expected to work the necessary hours to successfully perform the duties in their position. Many times, this may require working more than the normal hours, however an exempt employee will only be compensated at the agreed upon salary regardless of the number of hours worked. Since exempt employees may be required to work additional hours some weeks in order to perform the duties of their position, they are given flexibility to adjust their work schedules and need not take leave for absences from work of less than two hours and thirty minutes (2.5) Monday through Thursday, and one hour (1) on Friday. Appropriate notification to supervisor is required. If flexibility is used, hours worked for the year are expected to average at least 37.5 hours per week. Absences of more than two hours and thirty minutes (2.5) Monday through Thursday, and one hour (1) on Friday on a given day will require appropriate leave to be taken for the total amount of time absent from work on that day. Supervisors will be responsible for monitoring the work schedule of exempt personnel. In no instance is an exempt employee to assume that they may take an hour off for every hour worked over 37.5 hours per week. Exempt employees will not be paid overtime.

Exempt Employees are expected to average at least 37.5 hours at their primary work location(s). DCEA will not consider this to be satisfied by time worked at home unless specifically approved.

6.4 HOURS for NON-EXEMPT PERSONNEL

Any hours worked in excess of 37.5 hours per week and/or any changes to the normal (8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday and 8:00 a.m. to 1:30 p.m. on Friday) work schedule, must be approved in advance by the employee's direct supervisor. Changes to the employee's normal work schedule for those who work 37.5 hours per week, or less, must be approved in advance by the direct supervisor. Changes of more than five days must be approved by the Executive Director. All programs must also have the approval of the Executive Director for any hours worked over 40 in a work week. However, as indicated previously in this handbook, all time worked must be recorded, regardless if previously approved.

With prior approval from the Program Director, Non-exempt, manager level staff may work their hours between 7:00 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. Monday through Thursday and 7:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. on Friday. Changes of more than five days must be approved by the Executive Director.

Overtime at time and one half will be paid for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours per week. Paid hours for holiday, sick leave and annual leave do not constitute work hours and will not be counted in the calculation of overtime hours.

Employees must have prior written approval from their direct supervisor, their Program Director and the Executive Director to perform work at home. Employees should not take work home without the knowledge and approval of these listed above. Employees are expected to average their scheduled hours at their primary work location(s). DCEA will not consider this to be satisfied by time worked at home unless specifically approved. However, as indicated previously in this handbook, all time worked must be recorded, regardless if previously approved.

6.5 WORKING HOURS FOR NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEES WHILE TRAVELING

For out-of-town trips or meetings during hours other than regular office hours, the following guidelines will be used to calculate working time for non-exempt employees:

- 1. Travel time and time spent in meetings will be counted as working time.
- 2. Time not included within the meeting hours and when not traveling is considered non-working time.

EXAMPLE: One-day trip to Nashville, leaving at 6:00 a.m. and returning 9:00 p.m.

Work Time: 6:00am - 8:00am = 2.0 hours

8:00am - 5:00pm = 8.0 hours (with a one-hour lunch)

5:00pm - 9:00pm = 4.0 hours

EXAMPLE: Trip on Monday, leaving Sunday at 2:00 p.m. and driving four hours:

Sunday Work Time: 4 hours

6.6 TARDINESS AND ABSENCES

To maintain a productive and safe work environment, DCEA expects employees to be reliable and to be punctual in reporting for scheduled work. Absenteeism and tardiness place a burden on other employees and on DCEA programs. In the rare instances when employees cannot avoid being late to work or are unable to work as scheduled, they should notify their supervisor as soon as possible in advance of the anticipated tardiness or absence. Poor attendance and excessive tardiness are disruptive. Either may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

6.7 UNFORESEEN ABSENCES

If an employee will not be at work due to unforeseen circumstances, the immediate supervisor must be notified as soon as possible. That employee should also inform the supervisor of the approximate time of their return to work. Annual leave, sick leave or leave-without-pay may be allowed for these absences at the discretion of the administrative staff. Please refer to Section 8 for absences under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

6.8 ABSENCE DUE to INCLEMENT WEATHER

Non-Exempt Employees:

A. Head Start / Early Head Start Field Staff: During inclement weather, Head Start / Early Head Start classrooms will be closed when public schools in that county are closed. Early Head Start, see Section D. Other Employees.

- B. Senior Nutrition Sites: The Program Director and the Senior Services Coordinator will determine which sites, and/or routes, will be open during inclement weather and will contact staff. This will be done on a county-by-county basis according to weather conditions.
- C. Talent Search, Upward Bound, EOC and all DHS-funded programs will follow the guidelines set forth in their procedure's manual.
- D. Other Employees: If other non-exempt employees are unable to work because of inclement weather (such as snow), they will be granted annual leave, if available, or leave without pay, if annual leave is not available.

The Executive Director may determine that offices will close, operate on a delayed schedule, or close early due to inclement weather. If offices close early, employees present will be sent home without requiring leave to be taken. Employees who choose not to come to work, or to leave work prior to the decision being made, must take appropriate leave.

Exempt employees:

When the Agency closes for a full day due to inclement weather, or if the Agency opens and later closes due to inclement weather, exempt employees will be paid for any time the Agency is closed. In all other situations, the policies above will apply.

6.9 OTHER CLOSINGS

Other closings of the Agency by the Executive Director are addressed in Section 6.8.

6.10 UNEXPECTED or EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES

During a time of unexpected or extraordinary circumstances, the Agency will follow guidance from federal, state, local authorities, and funding sources to incorporate those recommendations and resources into workplace specific plans.

It may be necessary, to modify the work environment and/or change work practices to provide additional protection for employees and clients. Employees may be assigned alternative work locations or telecommunicating to work toward program objectives, engage clients and deliver services to the maximum extent possible.

Employees may need to be absent from work, the Executive Director may grant employees annual leave, sick leave flexibility, or approved leave without pay during this time.

In certain extraordinary circumstances, the Executive Director may determine offices will close due to uncontrollable factors and send employees home without requiring leave to be taken if allowed by all funding sources (federal and non-federal). Employees must be in active pay status, scheduled to work.

SECTION 7 - EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

7.1 RATE of COMPENSATION

Employees will be paid at a rate no lower than the applicable Federal Minimum Wage. Compensation for each position will be established based on qualifications required for the job and the volume of work and responsibility associated with the position. Salaries for comparable positions will be reviewed in determining the salary for a new position. Budget limitations must be considered in the establishment of all salaries.

Section 653 of the Head Start Act precludes using any Head Start funds (or other federal) to pay any part of the compensation of an individual employed by a Head Start Agency if that individual's compensation exceeds the rate payable for level II of the Executive Schedule. This cap applies to all staff who receives any part of their compensation from Head Start (or other federal funding sources); including those whose salaries are part of an indirect cost pool.

7.2 PAYMENT METHOD

- A. All compensation will be paid semi monthly as follows:
 - For wages earned during the 1st 15th of the month, payment will be on or before the last day of the month.
 - For wages earned during the 16th to the last day of the month, payment will be on or before the 15th day of the following month.
- B. As an example, if an employee begins work on the 4th day of the month, payment will be issued according to the schedule in 7.2A. The employee's final payment will be issued one pay period after termination from the Agency.
 - Effective July 1, 2015, all employees will be paid through direct deposit. The choice of depository is always made by the employee. Accurate time and leave records must be submitted prior to issuance of payment.
- C. All non-exempt employees will be paid an hourly rate multiplied by all recorded hours worked or otherwise payable in the pay period, with the exception of overtime as discussed in Section 6.4, which is paid by multiplying time actually worked in excess of forty hours in a work week by 1.5 times the hourly rate.
- D. All exempt employees will be paid each pay period equal to their annual salary divided by 24. Deductions may be made for the following reasons:
 - 1. When an Exempt employee is absent from work for one or more full days for personal reasons (other than sickness or disability), a deduction in full day increments may be made from pay. Exempt employees may offset this deduction by use of their available annual leave. When an annual leave balance exists, absences from work for more than two (2) hours must be offset by annual leave. (See Section 6.3).
 - 2. When an exempt employee is absent for one or more full days from work for sickness or disability (including short-term disability, long-term disability, and worker's compensation), a deduction in full-day increments will be made from pay. These deductions may be offset by the appropriate sick or annual leave the employee has accumulated (or any applicable company disability policy). While a sick leave balance exists, absences from work for more than two (2) hours must be offset by sick leave. (See Section 6.3).
 - 3. When an exempt employee is on jury duty, witness duty for a legal proceeding or temporary military leave, any amounts of pay received by the employee for such duty will be credited against the salary paid. Employees must provide a copy of jury, witness or military pay for the appropriate week(s), upon return to duty.

- 4. When an exempt employee is found in violation of a major safety policy/rule, or other major policy/rule as discussed in the employee handbook, as part of the discipline process, the employee may be suspended without pay for a day or more. The length and cause of suspension remains at the Agency's discretion. Factors that will be considered include, but are not limited to, the severity of the policy/rule violation, previous infractions, and service record.
- 5. Exempt employees who do not work a full week in the initial or terminal week of employment will receive a pro-rated portion of the full-week's salary for the time actually worked. This may be paid on an hourly or daily rate.
- 6. Exempt employees who take qualified leave under the company's Family and Medical Leave policy will receive pay pro-rated for the week for time actually worked. Any time deducted may be calculated on a daily or hourly basis.

If the Agency makes an improper deduction from an exempt employee's pay, the Agency will reimburse the exempt employee for the erroneous deduction. Exempt employees who feel improper deductions have been made from their salary should contact the Fiscal Officer or the Executive Director immediately. The Agency will in no way retaliate against any employee for making a good faith complaint about any payroll discrepancies or problems.

7.3 DEDUCTIONS

All wages paid by the Agency will be subject to the following deductions:

Mandatory Deductions:

- 1. FICA and Medicare Tax at the applicable rate;
- 2. Federal Withholding at the rate determined by the employee's W-4 statement and the current U.S. Treasury Circular E;
- 3. State Withholding: Employees living, or working, in a state which requires withholding for the state income tax will have the appropriate amount deducted from their paycheck;
- 4. Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System for those employees who are scheduled to work on average at least 30 hours or more per week.

Optional Deductions:

- 1. Contributions for group health and life insurance at the rate established by the Agency.
- 2. Contributions for retirement, savings plans, or other employee programs as established by the Agency.
- 3. Optional deductions are made only with the signed approval of the employee.

7.4 RECORDS OF TIME WORKED for ALL EMPLOYEES

A. All employees who have access to an Agency computer will use the Employee Web Service (EWS). It is the employee's responsibility to record their time accurately and on a daily basis. Employees should not share their EWS password. They should not log in/out for someone else, ask anyone else to log them in/out, alter, falsify, tamper with time records, or record time on another employee's time record. Any of these may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. The supervisor should review and then sign the record before submitting it to the accounting department for payroll processing. Supervisors may alter and/or record time on employee's time records at the employee's request. These records must be submitted to the payroll accounting department before a payroll check or direct deposit will be delivered to an employee. Non-exempt employees who do not have access to a computer will record their time on sign-in/out logs and on paper time sheets. DCEA reserves the right to make corrections to employee's time record to accurately reflect time worked.

B. Paper time sheets and mileage sheets must be completed in ink. Any errors corrected must be made by striking through the original to show the original and the changes and be verified with the employee and approved and initialed by the appropriate supervisor or designee.

7.5 GENERAL SALARY INCREASE GUIDELINES

All salary increases will be authorized contingent upon the availability of funds in the applicable budget. Salaries may be increased or decreased based on the availability of funds in each program year. This availability of funds will be decided by the joint agreement of the appropriate Program Director, the Fiscal Officer, and the Executive Director. All salary changes, including changes in the number of hours worked, must be recorded, and approved on the Personnel Action Form.

7.6 MERIT INCREASES

Merit increases may be considered once within a twelve-month period. Consideration for merit increases will be initiated by each employee's immediate supervisor based upon the employee's documented job performance and contingent upon the availability of funds in each program year. Suggestions for merit increases will be made to the Executive Director by the Program Director, along with documentation of outstanding job performance. The Executive Director will then approve or disapprove the employee's eligibility for a merit raise based on the information presented.

7.7 COST-of-LIVING INCREASES

Salary increases will be evaluated at the beginning of each grant year, <u>based on the availability of grant funds</u>. Annually, at the beginning of the Agency's fiscal year, the Executive Director will establish a percentage for programs to use as a maximum for cost-of-living increases. Any increases will be based upon the recommendation of the Program Director, the review for availability of funds by the Fiscal Officer and with final approval of the Executive Director. Every effort will be made to treat programs as equally and fairly as possible.

All regular full-time and part-time employees are eligible for cost-of-living increase. In no event will an employee receive a cost of living increase more than once every twelve months. No salary increases, including cost of living adjustments, are allowed while on Disciplinary Probation.

7.8 PROMOTIONS OR REALIGNMENT OF DUTIES

If the duties of an employee change substantially due to promotion or a realignment of duties, the employee may be considered for a salary adjustment (either increase or decrease). Suggestions for adjustments will be made to the Executive Director by the Program Director, along with a description of the change in duties. The Executive Director will then approve or disapprove the change.

7.9 SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR HEAD START / EARLY HEAD START

Head Start / Early Head Start allow increases based on acquired licenses, credentials, etc. These increases may be allowed during orientation, according to their approved budget.

7.10 BONUS, INCENTIVES, and REWARDS

Bonus incentives, and rewards may be given if allowed by the program grant and approved by the Executive Director.

SECTION 8 - BENEFITS

8.1 HOLIDAYS

- A. All DCEA facilities will be closed in observance of holidays listed below.
 - New Year's Day
 - Martin Luther King Jr. Day
 - President's Day
 - Good Friday
 - Memorial Day
 - Juneteenth
 - Independence Day
 - Labor Day
 - Columbus Day
 - Presidential Election Day
 - Thanksgiving (2 days)
 - Christmas (5 days)
 - Employee's Birthday (considered paid holiday but office not closed)

Employees will be eligible to receive holiday pay for holidays that fall on their scheduled workdays. To be eligible for holiday pay, employees must be scheduled to work at least 12 hours per week and must be in active pay status for their regularly scheduled workday for both the day before and the day after the holiday. Active pay status is defined as being at work or on approved annual or sick leave for the regularly scheduled hours. Eligible employees will receive regular pay for holidays. Temporary employees, substitutes, emergency hires and employees who are on Leave of Absence without pay, or in lay-off status are not eligible.

Employee's birthday holiday must be taken in the same pay period as the birthday. Employees on layoff status and who have a birthday during the layoff should schedule a time with their supervisor to take the holiday when they return from layoff.

Veteran's Day (November 11) provided to veteran employees as a non-paid holiday provided the employee provides at least one month notice of the intent to take the entire day as a holiday. Employees may be granted annual leave, if available, or non-paid, if annual leave is not available.

A Program Director will have the authority to adjust the Holiday Schedule when they determine that it is in the best interest of the customers served by their program. Such holiday(s) will then be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the Program Director and the Executive Director. The rescheduling of the holiday must occur within the program year. The request to alter the holiday schedule must be shown on the leave request form.

At the discretion of the Executive Director, employees may be released early on the day before a holiday and granted administrative leave. To be eligible, employees must be working at the time of dismissal. Employees on leave will not be eligible for administrative leave.

Eligible employees will receive holiday pay for their regularly scheduled workday, based on their current rate of pay. For example:

- If an employee is regularly scheduled to work 37.5 hours per week and a holiday falls on an 8-hour workday, the employee will receive 8 hours of holiday pay.
- If an employee is regularly scheduled to work less than 37.5 hours per week and a holiday falls on a 5.75-hour workday, the employee will receive 5.75 hours of holiday pay

8.2 ANNUAL LEAVE (Updated 7/1/2022)

- A. The following DCEA employees are not eligible to receive annual leave:
 - employees who have not completed their new hire paperwork
 - temporary employees and emergency hires
 - regular part-time status employees who are scheduled to work less than 22.5 per week (Refer to Section 2.2C)
 - program participants
 - continuing on call status and substitutes
 - B. All DCEA employees, other than the ones listed above under "A" above will follow the annual leave policy described in section 8.2. This policy will be effective for Head Start / Early Head Start Field Staff on 7-1-07.

Eligible employees will be gifted with annual leave during the course of each year based on the employee's years of service and upon the following schedule:

Years of Service	Hours Gifted Per Pay Period
less than 5	up to 3.75
5 to less than 10	up to 5.63
10 to less than 20	up to 6.57
20 or more	up to 7.5

Eligible employees who work less than 37.5 hours per week will be gifted with annual leave on a prorated basis from the above standards. Annual leave is paid at the employee's current rate of pay, at the time used. In certain cases, employees may be required to take annual leave at the discretion of the Executive Director.

- C. To determine the employee's length of employment for the rate of annual leave accumulation, time with the Agency will be counted from the employee's hire date. (Refer to Sec. 2.3).
- D. Annual leave will be recorded by the Central Office on a per pay period basis. Your annual leave maximum carry over will fall into one of these five categories:
 - 1. Employees who were employed prior to December 31, 2005, are allowed to carry over their adjusted accumulated amount. If on December 31 of any subsequent year, the employee ends the year below the adjusted accumulated amount, the carryover amount will change.
 - 2. Any employee who ends the year below 45 hours may carry over up to 45 hours at the end of the next calendar year.
 - 3. Employees hired during the year or who ends the year below 45 hours, may carry over up to 45 hours at the end of the next calendar year.
 - 4. Any annual leave remaining at the end of the calendar year, which is over and above the employee's maximum carryover amount, will be transferred to the employee's sick leave balance.
 - 5. Employees who are on Disciplinary Probation and unable to take available annual leave before the end of the year, may carry their unused annual leave over to the next calendar

year. The annual leave must be scheduled with the approval of the supervisor and/or Program Director.

- E. During the probationary period, employees may be gifted with annual leave at the appropriate rate; however, employees are not eligible to take annual while on disciplinary probation.
- F. Each employee must request permission from his or her immediate supervisor to take available annual leave in advance and in writing using the "Leave Request" selection of the Employee Web Service or the "Leave Request" form for those who still use paper time sheets. Supervisors of the employee may approve or deny the request for annual leave. Every effort will be made to approve annual leave at the employee's request; however, the employee will be expected to postpone or reschedule annual leave if requested to do so by the immediate supervisor and/or administrative staff member if it is felt that the employee's absence at the requested time would be detrimental to the efficient operation of the Agency. A supervisor may require an employee to take leave without pay if the employee is absent without approval.

Employees who work in schools should follow program-specific instructions for what to do in the case of school closures due to the school calendar schedule. Program plans (approved by the Executive Director) should be included in the Program Procedures Manual (section 1.10).

- G. The minimum portion of time that can be approved for annual leave is 1/4 hour (15 minutes).
- H. Employees can be paid for any unused available annual leave which was available as of December 31, 2005. However, this action will permanently reduce the amount of annual leave available for carryover.

At the time employment ends, employees will be paid for any unused accumulated annual leave. Employment ends on the last day of active work, except for those employees in lay-off status who later decide to resign or retire. The end date for them will be the date of their resignation or retirement. Employees who are members of TCRS and who have been compensated by lump-sum payment of their annual leave may not include this leave or salary for retirement purposes.

8.3 SICK LEAVE

Eligibility to accrue sick leave is the same as for annual leave.

- A. DCEA grants paid sick leave benefits to all eligible employees for periods of temporary absence due to illnesses or injuries. Sick leave may be used for:
 - 1. Personal illness of the employee
 - 2. Illness of a member of the employee's immediate family (See Sec. 1.9)
 - 3. Medical related and dental appointments for the employee or a member of the employee's immediate family
 - 4. A maximum of three (3) days to attend the funeral of an immediate family member (Refer to Sec 1.9 for list of family members). Also refer to Sec. 8.4 for Bereavement Leave.
- B. Employees will be gifted with up to 3.75 hours of sick leave for each full pay period worked. Hours are prorated based on the number of hours worked in a pay period. The sick leave will be available on the first day of the next pay period.

EXAMPLE: If an employee works a 15-hour week, 15 is 40 percent of a 37.5-hour week. Forty percent of 7.5 hours equals 3 hours allowed for illness. This time will be recorded by the Central Office on a per pay period basis.

C. Since it is not always possible to anticipate the need for absence due to illness, this absence does not have to be requested and approved in advance; however, it is the responsibility of the employee to notify their direct supervisor before the scheduled start of their workday if they are unable to report to work due to illness or injury, and to follow any other procedures required by the program (See Program Procedures Manual). Should the employee fail to contact the supervisor on the first day of an absence due to illness, the employee can be denied pay for this absence, and the day or days missed will be forfeited and a warning will be issued to the employee.

For an absence due to illness for more than one day, the employee must call his/her supervisor each day, or according to the schedule set by the supervisor, to keep the Agency informed of the necessity for continued absence. For FMLA purposes there is a separate policy. This does not apply to FMLA (see Section 8.7 & 8.8.)

When an employee has a doctor or dentist appointment scheduled beforehand, the employee should request permission for this absence in advance, using the "Leave Request" selection on the EWS or the "Request for Leave" form for those who still use a paper time sheet.

Program Directors may limit the amount of sick leave requested based on appointment times.

- D. An employee who is absent more than five consecutive working days must present a signed doctor's statement upon return to work certifying that the employee has been sick, is released to return to work, and is able to perform the duties required in the employee's job either with or without a reasonable accommodation. If the absence is because of illness of a member of the employee's immediate family, the statement must certify that the family member was sick and required the care of another person. Requests for Family and Medical Leave may be made by the employee or the employer when awareness of a need for FMLA leave becomes known.
- E. Should an employee's immediate supervisor and/or Program Director feel that this privilege is being abused (even though the time may be legitimately available), the employee can be required to provide additional statements from the physician and/or proof of illness prior to receiving the pay for the questioned absence.
- F. Should an illness require that an employee be absent from work for a period of time extending beyond any available sick leave, the employee may request the use of any available annual leave. This request may either be granted or denied by the Program Director and/or Executive Director based on the effect the employee's continued absence will have on the Agency's successful operation as well as other relevant considerations.
- G. If an employee must be absent beyond his/her available sick and annual leave, the employee may request a leave of absence without pay. NOTE: See Section 8.7 & 8.8 for Family Leave and Medical Act and Section 8.5 for Leave Without Pay.
- H. Persons working 37.5 hours per week may have available unlimited hours but will be limited to taking 450 hours in any calendar year for time off due to illness. Employees on FMLA must take sick or annual leave for the 12-week period of FMLA if it is available. The maximum of 450 hours is included in the FMLA time and is not in addition to the FMLA time. Maximum hours for

paid time off due to illness that can be taken by those working less than 37.5 hours per week will be pro-rated accordingly.

- I. TCRS member employees who terminate due to retirement shall have all unused accumulated sick leave credited toward retirement.
- J. No employee will be paid for absence due to illness during the last two weeks (ten working days) of layoff and/or employment, unless the resignation is for health reasons. A doctor's statement must be submitted stating that the employee must resign due to illness.
- K. At no time, including upon separation, will anyone be paid for unused accumulated sick leave time.
- L. Employees who are absent under Family & Medical Leave or Tennessee Family Leave will have their sick and/or annual leave all run concurrently with leave taken under those provisions.

8.4 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE (Updated 7/1/2022)

Bereavement leave will be granted for up to a maximum of three (3) regularly scheduled workdays without charge to the employee's accumulated leave balance in the event of the death of an employee's:

SpouseChildStep-childParentSiblingStep-parentGrandparentGrandchildStep-sibling

Parents-In-law

The granting of bereavement leave does not increase the total number of days provided for in Chapter 8 as sick or annual leave. Bereavement leave applies to all full and part-time employees. Pay for each day of bereavement leave taken will be made at the employee's current rate of pay for a scheduled day's work, not to exceed the hours for which the employee is normally scheduled to work. The Agency may request verification to support bereavement leave.

Eligible employees who wish to take time off due to death of In-Law (Child or Sibling) may use up to 3 days of sick leave.

Employees may, with their supervisor's approval, use any available annual leave for additional time off as necessary.

8.5 FAMILY and MEDICAL LEAVE (FMLA) POLICY (updated 7/1/2022)

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc. complies with the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and will grant up to 12 weeks of leave during a 12-month period to eligible employees (or up to 26 weeks of military caregiver leave).

A. Eligibility

To be eligible for leave under this policy, employees must meet all of the following requirements:

- Have worked at least twelve (12) months
- Have worked at least 1,250 hours during the twelve (12) month period prior to the start of leave and who are otherwise eligible.

B. Reason for leave

To qualify for FMLA leave under this policy, the leave must be for one of the following reasons:

- 1. The birth of a child and to care for the newborn child within one year of birth;
- 2. The placement with the employee of a child for adoption or foster care and to care for the newly placed child within one year of placement;
- 3. To care for the employee's spouse, child, or parent who has a serious health condition;
- 4. A serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the essential functions of his or her job;
- 5. Any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent is a covered military member on "covered active duty;" or
- 6. Military caregiver leave: Twenty-six workweeks of leave during a single 12-month period to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness if the eligible employee is the servicemember's spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin.

C. Amount of Leave

Under this family and medical leave policy, an eligible employee is only entitled to twelve (12) weeks of family and medical leave for every twelve (12) month period for the FMLA reasons 1 through 5, or up to 26 weeks within each 12-month period to care for FMLA reason 6. This twelve (12) month period will be measured forward from the date that an employee first takes family and medical leave. Thus, once an employee takes family or medical leave for the first time, the twelve (12) month period will begin on the date that the employee first takes such leave, and for that employee, in the years to come, the twelve (12) month period will always begin to run on that same date (specific day of a specific month) each year.

D. Intermittent Leave or a Reduced Work Schedule

Eligible employees may take FMLA leave on an intermittent or reduced schedule basis when medically necessary due to the serious health condition of a covered family member or the employee, or the serious injury or illness of a covered service member. Eligible employees may also take FMLA leave on an intermittent or reduced schedule basis, when necessary, because of a qualifying exigency. If an employee needs leave intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule for planned medical treatment, then the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule the treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the operations of DCEA.

If either intermittent leave or reduced hours is required, Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, at its sole discretion, may temporarily transfer the employee to another position with equivalent pay and benefits that better accommodate the leave. Although the alternative position will have equivalent pay and benefits, it will not necessarily include the same duties.

Intermittent leave or working a reduced number of hours is not permitted in the case of leave for the birth or placement of a child, unless both the employee and DCEA agree. Also, leave for the birth or placement of a child must be completed within twelve (12) months of the birth or placement.

E. Procedure for Taking Family or Medical Leave

All employees requesting FMLA leave must provide verbal or written notice of the need for leave to the Human Resources Department.

Before taking any leave, each employee must submit a request for medical leave by filling out a "Request for Medical Leave" form. This form **must** be obtained from the DCEA Employee Website or employee's supervisor. **All requests for medical leave must be submitted at least thirty (30) days before the leave is to begin** or as soon as possible if thirty (30) days notice is not possible. If the reason for an employee's leave changes, the employee must

request from the Human Resource office, paperwork necessary to begin the process for the new reason for FMLA.

DCEA will require appropriate medical certification for any type of Family and Medical Leave. The employee **must** respond to the request for certification within 15 days of the request or provide a reasonable explanation for the delay. Failure to provide certification may result in a denial of continuation of leave. Forms may be obtained from the Human Resources Department. A certification form must be submitted in order to qualify for Family and **Medical Leave.**

F. Designation of FMLA Leave

Within five business days after the employee has submitted the required certification or other documentation, the Human Resources Department will complete and provide the employee with a written response to the employee's request for FMLA leave using the FMLA Designation Notice.

G. Insurance Benefits During Family or Medical Leave

During a family or medical leave of absence, DCEA will continue to pay its portion of the employee's health insurance premium and the employee must continue to pay their normal share of such premium. The employee must deliver, either by hand-delivery or by mail, an amount equivalent to the employee's share of health insurance premiums for one month within three (3) days prior to the beginning of each month.

In the event the employee's premium payment is 30 days late, the employee's coverage may be dropped. DCEA must provide written notice to the employee that the payment has not been received and allow at least 15 days after the date of the letter before coverage stops. DCEA's obligation to maintain health insurance coverage ceases. Thus, failure of the employee to pay their share of the health insurance will result in loss of coverage.

If the employee does not return to work after the expiration of the leave, or if the employee returns to work for less than thirty (30) calendar days after the employee's family or medical leave entitlement has expired, the employee will be required to reimburse DCEA for payment of health insurance premiums the company paid during the family or medical leave, unless the employee does not return due to the presence of a serious health condition that prevents the employee from performing his or her job duties or if circumstances exist which are beyond the control of the employee.

If the employee has other types of insurance, such as disability, life, etc., they must also pay those monthly premiums in full at the first of each month. The employee must deliver, either by hand-delivery or by mail, an amount equivalent to the employee's insurance premiums for one month within three (3) days prior to the beginning of each month.

H. Earned Leave and Other Benefits

During family and medical leave, accumulation of employment benefits such as vacation hours, sick leave time, or other benefits will be suspended unless the employee is in active pay status. Employment benefits accumulated by the employee up to the day on which the family or medical leave begins will remain intact.

Employees who return to work from a family or medical leave of absence within the leave period or on the next business day following the expiration of the twelve (12) weeks are entitled to

return to their position or an equivalent position without any loss of benefits or pay otherwise available.

Employees are required to use their available annual leave and sick leave time during the twelve (12) week family or medical leave of absence. This available leave time will run concurrently with the twelve (12) weeks of Family and Medical leave and only that time for which an employee has available leave will be paid time off. Use of such available leave time will be in compliance with the established policy and procedure for each leave benefit.

I. Status and Intent to Return to Work

While on family and medical leave, each employee must report on their status and intent to return to work at the end of each thirty (30) day period that they are on Family or Medical Leave, except in cases of approved intermittent leave or reduced work schedule originally approved for a period in excess of thirty days. The employee should report to the Director of Human Resources by phone at 423-587-4500, by email to awhite@douglascherokee.org, by mail or in person.

J. Return to work requirements and Employee Status After Leave

An employee who takes leave under this policy may be asked to provide a fitness for duty form from a health care provider. This requirement will be included in the Agency response using the FMLA Designation Notice. Generally, an employee who takes FMLA leave will be able to return to the same position or a position with equivalent status, pay, benefits and other employment terms. The position will be the same or one that is virtually identical in terms of pay, benefits and working conditions. The Agency may choose to exempt certain key employees from this requirement and not return them to the same or similar position when doing so will cause substantial and grievous economic injury to business operations. Key employees will be given written notice at the time FMLA leave is requested of his or her status as a key employee.

8.6 NOTICE OF EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT

29 U.S.C. § 2619 and 29 C.F.R. § 825.300(a) require FMLA covered employers to post the following notice of employee rights and responsibilities under the FMLA.

Basic Leave Entitlement

FMLA requires covered employers to provide up to 12 workweeks of unpaid, job-protected leave in a 12-month period to eligible employees for the following reasons:

- 1. The birth of a child and to care for the newborn child within one year of birth;
- 2. The placement with the employee of a child for adoption or foster care and to care for the newly placed child within one year of placement;
- 3. To care for the employee's spouse, child, or parent who has a serious health condition;
- 4. A serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the essential functions of his or her job;
- 5. Any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent is a covered military member on "covered active duty;" or
- 6. Twenty-six workweeks of leave during a single 12-month period to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness if the eligible employee is the servicemember's spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin (military caregiver leave).

Military Family Leave Entitlements

Eligible employees whose spouse, son, daughter or parent is on covered active duty or call to covered active duty status may use their 12-week leave entitlement to address certain qualifying exigencies. Qualifying exigencies may include attending certain military events, arranging for alternative childcare, addressing certain financial and legal arrangements, attending certain counseling sessions, and attending post-deployment reintegration briefings.

FMLA also includes a special leave entitlement that permits eligible employees to take up to 26 weeks of leave to care for a covered service member during a single 12-month period. A covered service member is: (1) a current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness*; or (2) a veteran who was discharged or released under conditions other than dishonorable at any time during the five-year period prior to the first date the eligible employee takes FMLA leave to care for the covered veteran, and who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy for a serious injury or illness.*

*The FMLA definitions of "serious injury or illness" for current service members and veterans are distinct from the FMLA definition of "serious health condition". Benefits and Protections

During FMLA leave, the employer must maintain the employee's health coverage under any "group health plan" on the same terms as if the employee had continued to work. Upon return from FMLA leave, most employees must be restored to their original or equivalent positions with equivalent pay, benefits, and other employment terms.

Use of FMLA leave cannot result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to the start of an employee's leave.

An employer may not interfere with an individual's FMLA rights or retaliate against someone for using, or trying to use, FMLA leave, opposing any practice made unlawful by the FMLA or being involved in any proceeding under, or related to, the FMLA.

Eligibility Requirements

Employees are eligible if they have worked for a covered employer for at least 12 months, have 1,250 hours of service in the previous 12 months*, and if at least 50 employees are employed by the employer within 75 miles of the employee's worksite.

*Special hours of service eligibility requirements apply to airline flight crew employees. Definition of Serious Health Condition

A serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either an overnight stay in a medical care facility, or continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either prevents the employee from performing the functions of the employee's job or prevents the qualified family member from participating in school or other daily activities.

Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be met by a period of incapacity of more than 3 consecutive calendar days combined with at least two visits to a health care provider or one visit and a regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to pregnancy, or incapacity due to a chronic condition. Other conditions may meet the definition of continuing treatment.

Use of Leave

An employee does not need to use this leave entitlement in one block. Leave can be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule when medically necessary. Employees must make reasonable efforts to schedule leave for planned medical treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. Leave due to qualifying exigencies may also be taken on an intermittent basis.

Substitution of Paid Leave for Unpaid Leave

Employees may choose or employers may require use of accrued paid leave while taking FMLA leave. In order to use paid leave for FMLA leave, employees must comply with the employer's normal paid leave policies.

Employee Responsibilities

Employees must provide 30 days advance notice of the need to take FMLA leave when the need is foreseeable. When 30 days' notice is not possible, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable and generally must comply with an employer's normal call-in procedures.

Employees must provide sufficient information for the employer to determine if the leave may qualify for FMLA protection and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. Sufficient information may include that the employee is unable to perform job functions; the family member is unable to perform daily activities, the need for hospitalization or continuing treatment by a health care provider, or circumstances supporting the need for military family leave. Employees also must inform the employer if the requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was previously taken or certified. Employees also may be required to provide a certification and periodic recertification supporting the need for leave.

Employer Responsibilities

Covered employers must inform employees requesting leave whether they are eligible under FMLA. If they are, the notice must specify any additional information required as well as the employees' rights and responsibilities. If they are not eligible, the employer must provide a reason for the ineligibility.

Covered employers must inform employees if leave will be designated as FMLA-protected and the amount of leave counted against the employee's leave entitlement. If the employer determines that the leave is not FMLA-protected, the employer must notify the employee.

Unlawful Acts by Employers

FMLA makes it unlawful for any employer to:

- interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right provided under FMLA; and
- discharge or discriminate against any person for opposing any practice made unlawful by FMLA or for involvement in any proceeding under or relating to FMLA.

Enforcement

An employee may file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Labor or may bring a private lawsuit against an employer.

FMLA does not affect any Federal or State law prohibiting discrimination or supersede any State or local law or collective bargaining agreement which provides greater family or medical leave rights.

Further Information

For additional information, or to file a complaint, contact 1-866-4USWAGE (1-866-487-9243); TTY: 1-877-889-5627 or visit the Wage and Hour Division website: http://www.wagehour.dol.gov.

8.7 TENNESSEE FAMILY LEAVE ACT

Employees who have been employed by the same employer for at least twelve (12) consecutive months as a full-time employee, as determined by the employer at the job site or location, may be absent from such employment for a period not to exceed four (4) months for adoption, pregnancy, childbirth and nursing the infant, where applicable (such period to be hereinafter referred to as "leave"). With regard to adoption, the four (4) month period shall begin at the time an employee receives custody of the child. Employees who give at least three (3) months advance notice to the employer of the anticipated date of departure for such leave, their length of leave, and their intention to return to full-time employment after leave, shall be restored to their previous or similar positions with the same status, pay, length of service credit and seniority, wherever applicable, as of the date of their leave.

Employees who are prevented from giving three (3) months advance notice because of a medical emergency which necessitates that leave begin earlier than originally anticipated shall not forfeit their rights and benefits under this section solely because of their failure to give three (3) months advance notice. Employees who are prevented from giving three (3) months advance notice because the notice of adoption was received less than three (3) months in advance shall not forfeit their rights and benefits under this section solely because of their failure to give three (3) months advance notice.

Employees are required to use their available annual leave and sick leave time during the period not to exceed four (4) months of absence. Such leave shall not affect the employee's right to receive vacation time, sick leave, bonuses, advancement, seniority, length of service credit, benefits, plans or programs for which the employees were eligible at the date of their leave, and any other benefits or rights of their employment incident to the employee's employment position; provided, that the employer need not provide for the cost of any benefits, plans, or programs during the period of such leave unless such employer so provides for all employees on leaves of absence.

If an employee's job position is so unique that the employer cannot, after reasonable efforts, fill that position temporarily, then the employer shall not be liable under this section for failure to reinstate the employee at the end of the leave period.

The purpose of this section is to provide leave time to employees for adoption, pregnancy, childbirth and nursing the infant, where applicable; therefore, if an employer finds that the employee has utilized the period of leave to actively pursue other employment opportunities or if the employer finds that the employee has worked part-time or full- time for another employer during the period of leave, then the employer shall not be liable under this section for failure to reinstate the employee at the end of such leave.

Whenever the employer shall determine that the employee will not be reinstated at the end of such leave because the position cannot be filled temporarily or because the employee has used such leave to pursue employment opportunities or to work for another employer, the employer shall so notify the employee.

8.8 OTHER LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

Employees are required to use their available annual leave (and sick leave if applicable) prior to requesting leave without pay. A leave of absence without pay may generally be granted for up to three months cumulative total, which is 66 working days, in any 12-month period, unless more time is required under applicable law. If the employee cannot return to work, the action will be considered a voluntary resignation, unless provision of additional leave is legally mandated. Leave without pay may not be granted for an employee to seek political office. Approval of leave without pay is also dependent upon such things as the work schedule, availability of current staff or ability to hire temporary staff, reason for requesting leave and length of time requested. Leave without pay may or may not be

granted depending upon these and other factors. A supervisor may require an employee to take leave without pay if annual or sick leave is taken and not approved.

The appropriate administrative staff member may approve leave without pay if the absence is for five days or less. If the absence is for more than five days, the leave must be approved by the Executive Director. Leave without pay must be requested and approved in writing before the absence. If leave without pay is taken for an entire pay period, no sick or annual leave will be accumulated. Annual and sick leave will be prorated based on the hours worked. Employees will be responsible for paying their entire health insurance premium, including the Agency portion, if they have a pay period in which no hours are paid.

8.9 MILITARY LEAVE POLICY

An employee who gives advance notice of the need for an absence for any period of active or training service in the Uniformed Services of the United States is entitled to continued employment and, after completing longer periods of service, will be reemployed in accordance with federal and state law. Employees must meet the guidelines established in the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA).

Employees should inform the Agency of training or drill schedules as far in advance as possible. Upon request, employees going on Uniformed Services Leave may use any available annual leave.

Reinstated employees will receive full credit for seniority and other rights and benefits determined by seniority held by the employee at the start of the leave plus full credit for the period of time spent (up to five years) in the Uniformed Services.

8.10 UNAUTHORIZED ABSENCE

Any absence not processed according to the guidelines in Section 8 will be unauthorized. Unauthorized absence **may** cause the employee to incur disciplinary action up to and including termination.

8.11 JURY DUTY

Employees will be excused from work when called upon for jury duty. To obtain an authorized absence for jury duty, the employee must present the court notice to the immediate supervisor who will retain a copy of the notice. The court notice must be attached to the employee's time sheet when approved.

Employees who are excused for jury duty will be paid their regular wages and accumulate their usual benefits. They will transfer their jury duty stipend to the Agency. Evidence of the total amount received from the court must also be attached to the employee's time and attendance sheet for the applicable pay period. Employees who are excused from work because of jury duty, and who serve less than three hours, are generally expected to return to work as soon as the court dismisses them. Failure to do so may result in loss of pay.

8.12 VOTING TIME

Any person entitled to vote in an election held in this state may be absent from any service or employment on the day of the election for a reasonable period of time, not to exceed three (3) hours, necessary to vote during the time the polls are open in

the county where the person is a resident, subject to the provisions detailed below. A voter who is absent from work to vote in compliance with this section may not be subjected to any penalty or reduction in pay for this absence. If the work schedule of an employee begins three (3) or more hours after the opening of the polls or ends three (3) or more hours before the closing of the polls of the county where the employee is a resident, the employee may not take time off under this section. The employer may specify the hours during which the employee may be absent. Application for such

absence shall be made to the employer before twelve o'clock (12:00) noon of the day before the election. Eligible employees will be given a paid holiday for every presidential election.

8.13 GROUP INSURANCE (Updated 10/5/17)

Several types of insurance are available to eligible employees. Employees must be scheduled to work at least 30 hours per week to be eligible for medical insurance.

Medical, dental, vision, AFLAC, MetLife, term life and AD&D, short and long term disability insurance is available to eligible employees according to the specific terms and conditions of each individual insurance plan. For information concerning the current plans, please contact Human Resources at 423-587-4500, ext. 149.

For employees who are enrolled in any of the insurance plans:

- *Medical, dental and vision end on the last day of the month in which you work;
- *Term life, short and long term disability end on your last day of employment.

8.14 OTHER BENEFITS

The Agency provides the following benefits to all eligible employees:

A. Worker's Compensation Insurance may provide medical disability or death benefits for a job-related injury, illness, or death. For worker's compensation insurance to be effective all on-the-job accidents and/or job-related illnesses must be reported to the employee's immediate supervisor as soon as possible so that a report can be filed within 24 hours after the injury or illnesses. Employees absent because of an injury or illness related to their job will not be required to use otherwise available paid sick leave. Current Worker's Compensation regulations will be followed.

Any time off for an FMLA-eligible employee for a work-related injury (under worker's compensation) will also be counted as FMLA leave.

Employees who sustain work-related injuries or illnesses should inform their supervisor immediately. No matter how minor an on-the-job injury may appear, it is important that it be reported immediately. This will enable an eligible employee to qualify for coverage as quickly as possible. Neither DCEA nor the insurance carrier will be liable for the payment of workers' compensation benefits for injuries that occur during an employee's voluntary participation in any off-duty recreational or social activity sponsored by DCEA.

The Agency policy requires that employees with a work-related injury or illness select their treating physician from a list of three or more physicians provided by the Agency. If an employee is injured in the course of or becomes ill because of work and requires medical treatment beyond first aid attention, the employee should contact Human Resources or the Fiscal Officer in the Central Office to request a list of three or more medical providers from which the employee may choose. A complete list is also on the DCEA website, www.douglascherokee.com.

B. All full-time employees must participate in the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement Plan. Employees must work a minimum or 30 hours per week to be eligible to participate in this plan. All eligible employees must contribute the prevailing state established rate, which is currently 5% of their gross pay per pay period. DCEA also contributes an amount to this retirement plan based on a rate set by the state.

Some employees, hired prior to January 1, 2000, remain in the 401a at an 8% employer contribution rate.

In addition, all employees may choose to participate in a voluntary 401(k) retirement plan, in addition to the TCRS. Additional information may be obtained from the Human Resources Director.

- C. Unemployment Compensation is a form of insurance against loss of income due to losing a job through no fault of the employee. Employees should contact the Tennessee Department Labor and Workforce Development, Division of Employment Security for more information.
- D. The federal Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) gives employees and their qualified beneficiaries the opportunity to continue health insurance coverage under DCEA's health plan when a "qualifying event" would normally result in the loss of eligibility. Some common qualifying events are resignation, termination of employment, death of an employee, a reduction in an employee's hours or an extended leave of absence, an employee's divorce or legal separation and a dependent child no longer meeting eligibility requirements. Under COBRA, the employee or beneficiary pays the FULL COST of coverage at DCEA's group rates plus an administration fee.
- E. Some grants, such as Head Start, require and allow for payment of tuition and certain educational fees for employees. The only tuition and/or educational fees which will be paid by the Agency are those which are specifically provided for in the grant.

SECTION 9 - EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES & LIMITATIONS

9.1 NEW EMPLOYEES

When an employee is hired, they will be given a "New Hire Letter". This letter will address issues such as salary, work hours, and other information and does not constitute a contract of employment. The New Hire Letter must be signed and returned to the Agency as explained in Section 3. Each new employee must also complete the orientation procedure with the Director of Human Resources or with his or her supervisor as outlined in Section 4 and in the program's Procedures Manual. Each employee must read and become familiar with the Employee Handbook and their program's Procedures Manual. All Head Start / Early Head Start employees will be required to release information concerning involvement in child abuse and/or neglect as required by Tennessee Child Care Licensure. A consent form will be signed to release criminal records on a new employee to the Head Start / Early Head Start Program. Any information received will be evaluated in relation to the employee's qualifications and fitness to work with preschool children. Some positions and funding sources require specific background checks to be completed on employees.

9.2 GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Each Agency employee is responsible for performing job duties efficiently and effectively as described in the job description, Employee Handbook, the applicable Procedures Manual, and funding guidelines, and as instructed by the supervisor(s). Employees should approach their jobs with a positive attitude and deal with problems constructively. Employees should also treat all clients, staff, and colleagues with respect. Reports and forms must be submitted as explained in the Procedures Manual. Each employee should also attend all training sessions and staff meetings except when excused by the appropriate administrative staff member.

Each employee must sign in and out of the center or office. If an employee must be absent from work, the procedures outlined in Section 6 and 8 must be followed. Each employee is responsible for the proper care and use of Agency property, equipment and supplies as explained in Section 9. When a person leaves employment with the Agency, all property (including electronic information) and keys must be returned to the immediate supervisor or otherwise accounted for in a manner acceptable to the Agency.

It is the responsibility of each employee to promptly notify the Human Resource office of any changes in personnel data. Personal mailing addresses, telephone numbers, number and names of dependents, individuals to be contacted in the event of an emergency, educational accomplishments and other such status reports should be accurate and current at all times. If any personnel data has changed notify the Human Resources office. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action up to, and including, termination.

No employee with access to personnel data is allowed to make changes to their own personal data in the system or in their own personnel file. If personnel changes need to be made, it is the responsibility of each employee to promptly notify the Human Resource office. Having access to the data system does not preclude those employees from having to make the same requests as all other employees. If any personnel data changes the Human Resources office should be notified. Failure to follow these procedures may result in disciplinary action up to, and including, termination.

Each Program Director is responsible for the administration of the program budget(s) in accordance with DCEA and funding Agency guidelines. DCEA's Fiscal Officer is responsible for establishing and maintaining the accounting policies and procedures of the Agency, with concurrence from the Executive Director. All program information, data, materials, software, etc., remains the property of the Agency.

9.3 PUBLIC RELATIONS

All Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority's employees represent the Agency in the community. Each employee's conduct in daily contact with residents of the area must present a positive image of the Agency. Program Directors are encouraged to submit news releases to the newspapers in the service area. Any information released to the public (job ads, program announcements, newsletters, etc.) must be approved by the Executive Director prior to release. The name of the Agency and the funding source must appear in all information released, except for job advertisements. All programs are encouraged to display materials at local fairs, businesses, and industries. All job advertisements should include notice of equal employment opportunity.

9.4 SECURITY

Administrative staff members are responsible for the distribution and collection of keys to doors, desks, cabinets, etc., in each office and center. This procedure should be detailed in the Program Procedures Manual. Administrative staff and employees responsible for an office or center, and employees working outside of normal working hours are responsible for making sure the following are done: turning off lights in the office or center, turning off equipment, locking doors, and generally providing for the total security of the buildings and their contents.

Desks, lockers, Agency vehicles and other storage devices may be provided for the convenience of employees but remain the sole property of DCEA. Accordingly, no employee should reasonably expect any privacy with regard to this DCEA property. Such property, as well as any articles found within them, can be inspected by appropriate DCEA management at any time, either with or without prior notice.

DCEA is not responsible for employee personal property that is lost, stolen, or damaged at work. Employees are encouraged to secure their personal property and take precautions to safeguard their valuables.

DCEA employees may perform work duties at a DCEA site, or at locations not owned and/or controlled by DCEA, and their work duties or activities may be monitored by electronic means, more specifically video cameras without prior notice.

9.5 VISITORS IN THE WORKPLACE

Employees should not have extended or routine visits by friends, family, or co-workers during work time. Such visits at the worksite create the potential for injury to the visitor and significant liability to the Agency, as well as adversely affecting the work efficiency of staff. Employees are responsible for the conduct and safety of their visitors.

At no time should visitors utilize any Agency equipment such as copiers, computers, cell phones, exercise equipment, etc.

9.6 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE

Douglas Cherokee Economic Authority is committed to preventing workplace violence and to maintaining a safe work environment. DCEA has adopted the following guidelines to deal with intimidation, harassment, or other threats of (or actual) violence that may occur during business hours or on its premises.

All employees, including supervisors and temporary employees, should be treated with courtesy and respect at all times. Employees are expected to refrain from fighting, "horseplay," or other conduct that may be dangerous to others. Firearms, weapons, and other dangerous or hazardous devices or substances are prohibited from the premises of Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, or that of any of its customer, without express written authorization from the Executive Director. Conduct that threatens, intimidates, or coerces another employee, a customer, or a member of the public at any time, including off-duty periods, will not be tolerated. This prohibition includes all acts of harassment, including harassment that is based on an individual's gender (including sexual orientation and gender identity), race, age, or any characteristic protected by federal, state, or local law.

All threats of (or actual) violence, both direct and indirect, should be reported as soon as possible to your immediate supervisor or any other member of management. This includes threats by employees, as well as threats by customers, vendors, solicitors, or other members of the public. When reporting a threat of violence, you should be as specific and detailed as possible.

All suspicious individuals or activities should also be reported as soon as possible to a supervisor. Do not place yourself in peril. If you see or hear a commotion or disturbance, you should report it immediately and contact the appropriate authorities if necessary.

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority will promptly and thoroughly investigate all reports of threats of (or actual) violence and of suspicious individuals or activities. The identity of the individual making a report will be protected as much as is practical. In order to maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, DCEA may suspend employees, either with or without pay, pending investigation. Anyone determined to be responsible for threats of (or actual) violence or other conduct that is in violation of these guidelines will be subject to prompt disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority encourages employees to bring their disputes or differences with other employees to the attention of their supervisors or the Director of Human Resources before the situation escalates into potential violence. DCEA is eager to assist in the resolution of employee disputes and will not discipline or otherwise retaliate against any individual for raising such concerns or participating in an investigation.

9.7 CONFIDENTIALITY, SAFEGUARDING INFORMATION and HIPAA

This policy pertains to the security and privacy of all non-public information including client/customer information, employee information, including medical information, and general Agency information whether it is in hard copy or electronic form. Documents that include confidential information such as social security numbers, dates of birth, client/customer records, medical information, benefits information, compensation, and employee evaluations need to be secured during printing, transmission (including by fax), storage and disposal.

This document establishes specific requirements for the proper protection of these valuable resources and to ensure that DCEA maintains strict confidentiality in compliance with applicable requirements and regulations of all funding sources and other applicable federal and state privacy laws.

In our day-to-day jobs, staff members have access to very private information about our clients and employees. Employees should only access the information necessary to do their job. Private information should only be discussed with others who "need to know" it to do their jobs and should not be discussed among co-workers. Personal information concerning clients and employees (such as names, addresses, phone numbers and/or other contact information, health information, income, household members, information about disabilities, social security numbers, birth dates, services provided, etc.) must remain confidential and should not be disclosed without written permission.

At all times, client information is confidential. What an employee is told by a client or potential client can NEVER be discussed with anyone outside the Agency without the client's permission. Information can generally be shared within the Agency only when necessary for service to a client. Breaches in confidentiality will result in appropriate disciplinary action. Information involving child abuse must be reported to the proper agencies, according to State Law and the Federal Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act of 1974.

It is vitally important that all employees handle confidential information properly. Access to confidential information is restricted to those who have a need to know as defined by their job duties. Anyone who receives confidential information has a responsibility to maintain and safeguard this information and to use it with consideration and ethical regard for others. Circumventing or attempting to circumvent restrictions on the use and dissemination of confidential information is considered a serious offense. If confidential information is received in error, the recipient has an obligation to report the receipt to the Director of Human Resources or the Head Start Human Resources Manager.

General Guidelines

- Do not leave paper documents containing confidential information unattended; protect them from the view of passers-by or office visitors.
- Store paper documents containing confidential information in locked files.
- Do not leave the keys to file drawers containing confidential information in unlocked desk drawers or other areas accessible to unauthorized staff.
- All documents that contain confidential and/or personal information, and that are no longer needed, must be shredded. Do not place them in the trash for disposal. Take care to secure these documents until shredding occurs.

- Do not leave client/employee files open and unattended on a computer screen or on your desk.
- Computer screens should be blocked from view if they contain confidential information which could be seen by others.
- Immediately retrieve or secure sensitive documents that are printed on copy machines, fax machines and printers.
- Any Personal Health Information faxed out should be transmitted on the Agency's secure fax lines.
- Double-check email and fax messages containing confidential information:
 - Verify email address before sending.
 - o Recheck the recipient's fax number before you hit 'start.'
 - o Verify the security arrangements for a fax's receipt prior to sending.
 - o Verify that you are the intended recipient of faxes received on your machine.

Disclosure of Information

Employees may be asked for information about DCEA by the media, outside groups and others collecting information for various purposes. No employee should make public statements on behalf of DCEA or provide confidential information in response to external inquires unless they have been specifically authorized to do so by the Executive Director. Refer all employment verification and reference requests to Human Resources.

Any legal summons, subpoena, or court order having to do with wages or wage garnishments, employee records, or other legal documents received should be immediately delivered to the Director of Human Resources or Payroll.

Some employees must disclose confidential DCEA information as a part of their job responsibilities. This policy concerning confidential information is not intended to prohibit such authorized disclosures.

A few examples of situations in which confidential information might properly be disclosed are:

- Disclosure of operational data to vendors or consultants in connection with providing services to DCEA,
- Participation in legitimate and authorized surveys.
- Providing data to agencies as part of required filings, reporting or grant preparation,
- An authorized employee responding to monitoring or auditing inquires.

Employees should be certain that they understand what they have been authorized to disclose, and to whom, prior to disclosing any confidential information. Questions regarding the appropriateness of requests for information from internal or external parties should be directed to a supervisor or Executive Director.

Access

Douglas-Cherokee will maintain strict control over access to work locations, records, computer information, cash, and other items of value. Employees who are assigned keys, given special access or assigned job responsibilities in connection with the safety, security or confidentiality of such records, materials, equipment, or items of monetary value will be required to use sound judgment and discretion in carrying out their duties and will be held accountable for any wrongdoing or acts of indiscretion. Some employees may become familiar with another employee's or person's confidential information in connection with the performance of their jobs. Information may not be divulged, copied, released, sold, loaned, reviewed, altered, destroyed, or otherwise used in any way except as properly authorized.

Safeguarding Medical Information

The acquisition, retention, and dissemination of medical information regarding staff by employees and supervisors are regulated by law. All medical certificates and related information that describe the health, medical history, or condition of an employee or an employee's family members must be handled as confidential medical information and should be maintained in the employee's medical file. This information must be stored in a locked file separate from the personnel file. The Human Resources Department will maintain these files. Do not attach medical certificates and related medical information to time sheets.

Generally, employers are limited in the acquisition of medical information. Access to health and medical information must be limited to a need-to-know basis. If an employee submits medical documentation and indicates a medical need to be absent from work for more than five (5) consecutive working days, the Human Resources department should be consulted about potentially placing the employee on a Leave of Absence. When an employee is placed on a Leave of Absence for medical reasons related to the employee or a family member, the Human Resources department will provide supervisors with information related to the need for time off but will not release medical details. All medical information will be kept confidential and will only be shared with those with a need to know or as required by law.

Head Start employees who have medical information to submit, such as doctor's notes that support a need for time out of work, should fax them to the Head Start fax number below or mail them to the Head Start address below. All other Douglas-Cherokee employees should fax or mail their medical information to the Director of Human Resources at the fax number or address listed below. This information, as well as all documentation with specific information about an employee's medical condition or status, should be sent directly to the Director of Human Resources or Head Start Human Resources Manager.

When faxing medical information:

- Fax all information concerning employee's personal health information to the secure fax maintained by the DCEA HR department or the Head Start secure fax maintained by the Head Start Human Resources Manager. Make sure to mark the same as "Confidential."
- DCEA Human Resources Department secure fax number: 423-200-5101
- Head Start Human Resources Manager secure fax number: 423-200-5102

When mailing information:

 Mail all information concerning employee's personal health information to the DCEA Human Resources department or to the Head Start Human Resources Manager (for all Head Start employees). The envelope should be labeled as "Confidential "and sent to the attention of" the appropriate person listed above. The mailing address is:

> Attention: Director of Human Resources Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority 534 East First North Street Morristown, TN 37814

 All results of physical and communicable disease screenings for Head Start employees should be sent to:

Attention: Human Resources Manager

Douglas-Cherokee Head Start 127 Cedar Street Morristown, TN 37814

9.8 EMPLOYEE DRESS (Updated 10/5/2017, 1/10/2019, 7/1/2020)

As an employee of Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc., you are expected to maintain a standard of dress and grooming that reflects a professional businesslike image to clients and visitors. The kind of work that you do determines the clothing you should wear, and your attire should meet accepted professional standards and safety regulations. If you have questions about appropriate dress in your work environment, your supervisor or Human Resources Director can advise you on appropriate attire for your job and your department.

Employees who work in the kitchen should wear shoes that have non-skid soles that tie or secure and are clean and neat. Tennis shoes are acceptable. Sandals, open-toed shoes, high heels, flip-flops, and shoes with slick or "chunky" soles should not be worn in the kitchen. (Updated 10/5/17)

Programs may have more specific guidelines, please refer to your Program Procedures Manual for more information.

9.9 TECHNOLOGY AND ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this policy is to identify guidelines for the use of Douglas-Cherokee technologies and communications systems. This policy establishes a minimum standard that must be upheld and enforced by users of the Agency's technologies and communications systems.

The term "user" as used in these policies refers to employees (whether full-time, part-time, or limited term), independent contractors, consultants and any other user having authorized access to, and using any of, the Agency's computers or electronic communications resources.

Computer and electronic communications resources include, but are not limited to, host computers, file servers, stand alone computers, laptops, printers, networks, fax machines, phones, on-line services, Email systems, bulletin board systems and all software that is owned, licensed, or operated by DCEA.

Acceptable Use of Agency Property

Use of the Agency's computers and electronic communications technologies is for programmatic and business activities of Douglas-Cherokee. All use of such resources shall be in an honest, ethical, and legal manner that conforms to applicable license agreements, contracts, and policies regarding their intended use. Although incidental and occasional personal use of the Agency's communications systems are permitted, users automatically waive any rights to privacy.

In addition, the information, ideas, concepts, and knowledge described, documented or contained in the Agency's electronic systems are the intellectual property of DCEA. The copying or use of the Agency's intellectual property for personal use or benefit during or after employment (or period of contract) with DCEA is prohibited unless approved in advance by the Executive Director.

All hardware (laptops, mobile phones or other handheld devices, computers, monitors, mice, keyboards, printers, telephones, fax machines, etc) issued by DCEA is the property of the Agency and should be treated as such. Users may not physically alter or attempt repairs on any hardware at any time. Users must report any problems with hardware to the Program Director or the Information Technology Project Manager. The Information Technology Project Manager should be contacted

before the purchase of any hardware or software and before the installation or download of any software.

Occasional and reasonable personal use of DCEA's internet and e-mail services is permitted, provided that this does not interfere with work performance. These services may be used outside of scheduled hours of work, provided that such use is consistent with professional conduct and does not violate any otherwise applicable DCEA policy or procedure. This is available to DCEA employees only and not to visitors, family, and friends.

Users should have no expectation of privacy while using DCEA owned or DCEA leased equipment and/or systems. Information passing through or stored on company equipment and/or systems can and will be monitored.

Password Security

Users are responsible for safeguarding their login passwords. Passwords may not be shared, nor should they be printed or stored on-line. Program Directors should have, or know where to locate, all passwords, except for EWS. Users should not leave their computers unattended without logging off.

Confidentiality

All information about individuals, families or agencies served by DCEA is confidential. No information may be shared except as provided for in Section 9.7 of the DCEA Employee Handbook.

Copyrighted Information

Use of DCEA electronic communication systems to copy, modify, or transmit documents, software, information or other materials protected by copyright, trademark, patent or trade secrecy laws, without obtaining prior written permission from the owner of such rights in such materials, is prohibited and may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Installation of Software

The installation of new software on the computers or other equipment and/or systems of Douglas-Cherokee without the prior approval of the Information Technology Project Manager and the Program Director is prohibited. If an employee desires to install any new programs onto a DCEA computer or other equipment and/or systems, written permission should first be obtained.

Other Prohibited Uses

Other prohibited uses of the Agency's communication systems include, but are not limited to:

- 1. Engaging in any communication that is discriminatory, defamatory, pornographic, obscene, racist, sexist or that evidences religious bias, or is otherwise of a derogatory nature toward any specific person, or toward any race, nationality, gender, marital status, sexual orientation or gender identity, religion, disability, physical characteristic, age group, or any other legally protected status.
- 2. Browsing or downloading and/or forwarding and/or printing pornographic, profane, discriminatory, threatening or otherwise offensive material from any source including, but not limited to, the Internet.
- 3. Engaging in any communication that is in violation of federal, state or local laws.
- 4. Promoting any religious belief or tenet.
- 5. Campaigning for or against any candidate for political office or any ballot proposal or issue.
- 6. Sending, forwarding, redistributing or replying to "chain letters."
- 7. Unauthorized use of passwords to gain access to another user's information or communications on DCEA systems or elsewhere.

- 8. Advertising, solicitation or other commercial, non-programmatic use.
- 9. Knowingly introducing a computer virus into the Agency's communication system or otherwise knowingly causing damage to the Agency's systems.
- 10. Using the Agency's systems in a manner that interferes with normal business functions in any way, including but not limited to, streaming audio or video from the Internet during business hours, stock tickers, installing unauthorized software, etc.
- 11. Excessive personal use of the Agency's technologies that preempts any business activity or interferes with Agency productivity.
- 12. Sending E-mail messages under an assumed name or obscuring the origin of an E-mail message sent or received, or in other fraudulent use of DCEA equipment or systems.

Disciplinary Action for Violations

Douglas-Cherokee requires all users to adhere to this policy. Violations of this policy will result in disciplinary action, which could include termination of employment.

Reporting of Suspected Violations

Suspected violations of these policies should be immediately and confidentially reported to your immediate supervisor. If you prefer not to discuss it with your supervisor, you may contact the Fiscal Officer, the Director of Human Resources, or the Executive Director. DCEA reserves the right to install programs that monitor employee use of the Internet and electronic communication systems and to act on any violations of these policies found through use of such programs. DCEA further reserves the right to examine any and all electronic communications sent or received by employees via the Agency's electronic communications systems.

9.10 SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY (Updated 10/5/17, 5/10/18)

At DCEA, we understand that social media can be a fun and rewarding way to share your life and opinions with family, friends, and co-workers around the world. However, use of social media also presents certain risks and carries with it certain responsibilities. To assist you in making responsible decisions about your use of social media, we have established these guidelines for appropriate use of social media. This policy applies to all employees who work for DCEA.

Employees who work with students should not accept request from students, parents/guardians of students and former students, on their <u>personal social media</u>. This includes requests from Facebook, Snapchat, Instagram, or other online platforms, as well as text messages and <u>personal email</u>. This policy helps to keep appropriate boundaries with students. Students and parents/guardians should be made aware of this policy during the program year.

Photos of students participating in the programs may not be posted on <u>employee's personal social media</u>. Photos can only be shared on Douglas-Cherokee program social media and only after written consent has been given by the parents/guardians.

Guidelines

In the rapidly expanding world of electronic communication, social media can mean many things. Social media includes all means of communicating or posting information or content of any sort on the Internet, including to your own or someone else's web log or blog, journal or diary, personal web site, social networking or affinity web site, web bulletin board or a chat room, whether or not associated or affiliated with DCEA, as well as any other form of electronic communication. Ultimately, you are solely responsible for what you post online. Before creating online content, consider some of the risks and rewards that are involved. Keep in mind that any of your conduct could adversely affect your job performance, the performance of fellow employees, clients, vendors, or people who work on behalf of DCEA. Also, be aware that violation of any otherwise applicable DCEA policy or procedure, such as

DCEA's policy against harassment, through the use of any social media platform can and will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Know and follow the rules

Carefully read these guidelines, the **Douglas-Cherokee Code of Conduct (Sec. 9.12), Non-Discrimination Policy (Sec 1.6), Harassment Policy (Sec 9.19), and Workplace Violence Policy (Sec. 9.6), and ensure your postings are consistent with these policies. Inappropriate postings that may include discriminatory remarks, harassment, and threats of violence or similar inappropriate or unlawful conduct will not be tolerated and may subject you to disciplinary action up to and including termination.**

Be respectful

Always be fair and courteous to fellow employees, clients, vendors, or people who work on behalf of DCEA. Also, keep in mind that you are more likely to resolve work related complaints by speaking directly with your co-workers or supervisors than by posting complaints to a social media outlet. Nevertheless, if you decide to post complaints or criticism, avoid using statements, photographs, video, or audio that reasonably could be viewed as malicious, obscene, threatening or intimidating, that disparage clients, co-workers, funding sources or vendors, or that might constitute harassment or bullying. Examples of such conduct might include offensive posts meant to intentionally harm someone's reputation or posts that could contribute to a hostile work environment on the basis of race, gender (including sexual orientation and gender identity), disability, religion or any other status protected by law or company policy.

Be honest and accurate

Make sure you are always honest and accurate when posting information or news, and if you make a mistake, correct it quickly. Be open about any previous posts you have altered. Remember that the Internet archives almost everything; therefore, even deleted postings can be searched. Never post any information or rumors that you know to be false about DCEA, fellow workers, customers, vendors, funding sources or people working on behalf of DCEA. Never misrepresent your identity or mislead others regarding your identify or employment with DCEA online or otherwise.

Post only appropriate and respectful content

- Maintain the confidentiality of DCEA's and client's private or confidential information. Do not
 post internal reports, policies, procedures, or other internal business-related confidential
 communications.
- Do not create a link from your blog, website, or other social networking site to a DCEA website without identifying yourself as a DCEA employee.
- Express only your personal opinions. Never represent yourself as a spokesperson for DCEA. If DCEA is a subject of the content you are creating, be clear and open about the fact that you are an employee and make it clear that your views do not represent those of DCEA, fellow employees, clients, vendors, funding sources or people working on behalf of DCEA. If you do publish a blog or post online related to the work you do or subjects associated with DCEA, make it clear that you are not speaking on behalf of DCEA. You must include a disclaimer such as "The postings on this site are my own and do not necessarily reflect the views of DCEA."

Using social media at work

Refrain from using social media while on work time or on equipment we provide, unless it is work-related, authorized by your manager, or consistent with the Company Equipment Policy. Do not use DCEA email addresses to register on social networks, blogs or other online tools utilized for personal use.

Retaliation is prohibited

DCEA prohibits taking negative action against any employee for reporting a possible deviation from this policy or for cooperating in an investigation. Any employee who retaliates against another employee for reporting a possible deviation from this policy or for cooperating in an investigation will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Discrimination, harassment, and retaliation of any kind, whether from an employee or a third party, will not be tolerated and will be dealt with swiftly. If an individual believes that they have been subjected to discrimination, harassment, or retaliation, they should take the complaint to their immediate supervisor and/or the Human Resources Department as soon as possible.

Media contacts

Employees should not speak to the media on DCEA's behalf without contacting the Executive Director. All media inquiries should be directed to them.

For more information

If you have questions or need further guidance, please contact Human Resources.

9.11 RESTRICTIONS on POLITICAL ACTIVITIES (Revised 4/11/16)

Each employee must conform to the restrictions on political activities mandated by their funding source. These guidelines are contained in the program Procedures Manuals. Leave without pay may not be granted for an employee to seek political office. Employees are not allowed to transport voters to the polls, be involved in voter registration or be involved in any political activity during work time.

DCEA encourages its employees to participate fully in the democratic political process as private citizens. As a non-profit 501(c)(3) tax-exempt organization and recipient of Community Services Block Grant ("CSBG") and other federal funds, however, CAA and its employees must follow certain rules concerning political activity:

A. Activities by Individuals

- 1) <u>Allowable Activities (Off- Duty)</u>: All DCEA employees and board members may engage in the following activities as private citizens, if conducted during non-DCEA work hours, off DCEA premises, and without direct or indirect DCEA financial support or identification:
 - a) Hold membership and office in, attend meetings of, vote in, and otherwise participate in, political parties, clubs, organizations, and conventions;
 - b) Participate in and manage partisan or nonpartisan political campaigns, including volunteering, writing and making speeches, writing letters, and soliciting voters to support or oppose a candidate;
 - c) Be a candidate in a nonpartisan election for public office (all employees);
 - d) Be a candidate in any election (except employees who are paid completely (100%) with CSBG and/or Head Start funds):
 - e) Contribute to partisan or nonpartisan political campaigns or political parties and request contributions (but not advise, command, coerce, or attempt to coerce such contributions) from others (except not from employees whom they supervise):
 - f) Participate in voter registration drives; and
 - g) Assist in providing transportation to the polls.
- 2) <u>Prohibited Activities (On-Duty)</u>. While on-duty at DCEA, on DCEA premises, or using DCEA resources DCEA employees and board members may not engage in any of the activities listed in 1 above.

- 3) <u>Prohibited activities (at all times)</u>. In general, DCEA employees may not engage in the following activities at any time or place, including during off-duty hours, during leave of any type (including unpaid leave), and off DCEA premises:
 - a) Use official authority or influence to interfere with or affect the results of an election or a nomination for office, and
 - b) Directly or indirectly coerce, attempt to coerce, command or advise any employee of DCEA or other Community Action or Head Start Agencies to make political contributions, or request such contribution from DCEA employees whom they supervise.

However, if the DCEA employee is not principally employed by the DCEA (i.e., spends less than half of his or her working time employed by DCEA or receives less than half of his or her working income from DCEA) and/or does not perform any work in connection with activities funded by the Community Services Block Grant or Head Start, the employee may be exempted from the restrictions stated above. To be exempted, the employee must receive written authorization from the DCEA Executive Director.

4) Additional Prohibited Activities for Some Employees. Employees whose salary is paid completely (100%) from CSBG and/or Head Start funds may not be a candidate for public office in a partisan election (including primaries).

B. Activities by DCEA

- 1) DCEA may not participate or intervene in a political campaign on behalf or in opposition to any candidate for public office. DCEA employees should scrupulously avoid identification of DCEA with, or use of its funds or resources for, such activity;
- 2) DCEA funds may not be used to make contributions to political campaigns, political parties, or political action committees; and
 - 3) DCEA may under certain conditions conduct limited activities designed to educate, but not influence, voters, such as neutral candidate forums or voter guides, voter registration drives, and transportation to the polls, but only if they are carried out by DCEA programs or employees not funded by the Community Services Block Grant or Head Start or other funding sources containing specific restrictions prohibiting such activity and receive the prior approval of the DCEA Executive Director.

Each employee must conform to the restrictions on political activities mandated by their funding source. These guidelines are contained in the program Procedures Manuals. Leave without pay may not be granted for an employee to seek political office.

9.12 CODE of CONDUCT

DOUGLAS-CHEROKEE ECONOMIC AUTHORITY, INC. CODE OF CONDUCT

Preamble

The Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc. (DCEA) is committed to maintaining the highest level of integrity and the highest standards of ethical conduct in all of its activities and dealings. It is important for DCEA board members and employees to be aware that both real and apparent conflicts of interest or dualities of interest sometimes occur in the course of conducting the affairs of the organization and that the appearance of conflict can be troublesome even though there is in fact no legal conflict of interest.

Conflicts occur because the many persons associated with DCEA should be expected to have and do in fact generally have multiple interests and affiliations and various positions of responsibility within the community. In these situations, a person will sometimes owe identical duties of loyalty to two or more organizations. Conflicts are undesirable because they potentially place the interests of others ahead of DCEA's obligations to the public interest. Conflicts are also undesirable because they often reflect adversely upon the person involved and upon the institutions with which they are affiliated, regardless of the actual facts or motivations of the parties.

The purpose of the Code of Conduct is to provide guidance to DCEA's board members and employees so the Agency can maintain the highest level of integrity and the highest standards of ethical conduct. Each board member and employee of DCEA is urged to carefully review this Code of Conduct and make every effort to adhere to it. Certain provisions of this Code of Conduct, as indicated, apply only to board members.

I. Gifts to Board Members and Employees.

The acceptance by any board member, or employee, of money, services or any other thing of value offered by a representative, person, or entity which (1) does business with DCEA (or any person or entity which potentially could do business with DCEA) or (2) has applied for a grant or potentially could apply for an upcoming grant from DCEA is prohibited. The offer of any such benefit must be reported immediately to the Board Chair for board members and to the Executive Director or Human Resources for employees. Notwithstanding the forgoing, it is understood that a board member or employee of DCEA may receive unsolicited gifts of modest value from persons doing business with DCEA, such as Christmas gifts of modest value not to exceed \$50. If the value of a gift exceeds \$50, the gift must be returned to the donor. If the gift is not easily returned, the gift shall be donated to a local charitable Agency or organization in the name of the donor. Said donor shall be notified of such, as well as, notified of DCEA's gift prohibition policy. It is also expressly understood that this policy does not preclude business meals or nominal entertainment on an infrequent basis.

II. Confidentiality of Information.

DCEA's board members and employees owe a duty of loyalty to DCEA. The duty of loyalty requires each board member and employee of DCEA to respect the confidentiality of information gained in the course of board activities or employment. No board member or employee shall use information received in the course of serving DCEA if the personal use of such information would be detrimental in any way to the Agency.

III. Conflicts of Interest.

A. Board Members.

Any possible conflict of interest of any board member (or member of the board member's immediate family) shall be fully disclosed to the other board members and made a matter of record. For the

purpose of this policy, a member of an immediate family shall include any of the following persons: spouse, parent, grandparent, child, sibling, grandchild, in-law (parent, child, sibling) and step-(parent, child, sibling). When any such possible conflict of interest becomes relevant to any matter requiring Board of Directors or committee action, it shall be called to the attention of the board or committee and, if any question is raised as to whether a conflict of interest exists, the potentially interested person shall leave the meeting while the matter is discussed and voted upon. The remaining members shall decide if a conflict of interest exists. If the remaining members determine that a conflict of interest exists, or if no such vote is taken because a conflict of interest clearly exists, the board member shall not vote on the matter in which they (or a member of their immediate family) has a possible conflict of interest, shall not use personal influence to affect the vote and shall leave the room during the final discussion and vote on the matter. However, any board member who is excluded from voting because of such possible conflict of interest may answer any pertinent questions of other board members or committee members when the board member's knowledge of the matter may assist the board or committee in making its determination. Any vote approving a transaction that involves a possible conflict of interest should include a determination by the disinterested board members that the transaction is in the best interest of CAA and is fair in all respects to DCEA. The minutes of the meeting shall reflect that a disclosure was made and the nature of the disclosure, that the interested board member abstained from voting and left the room for the final discussion and vote, and that the interested board member abstained from the action taken to determine whether a conflict of interest existed, if any.

Board members are prohibited from receiving compensation for serving on the board or providing services to the Agency, and board members and their immediate family are prohibited from being employed by the Agency.

Board members must operate independent of staff employed at the Agency.

B. Committee Members.

The provisions of this policy applying to board members also shall apply to any person who is not a board member but who is at any time serving as a member of any committee or Policy Council.

C. Employees.

Each employee has a duty to make full disclosure to the Board of Directors of any possible conflict of interest (or that of a member of his or her immediately family) regarding any matter as to which the employee provides recommendations or advice to the Board of Directors.

- **D. Types of Conflicts of Interest.** A particularly important type of possible conflict of interest arises when a board member holds a direct or indirect financial interest in (or will receive a benefit from) a business firm furnishing services, materials, or supplies to DCEA or that is seeking grant funds from DCEA. Board of Directors are prohibited from having a direct or indirect financial interest with DCEA. A direct financial interest is the receipt of remuneration of any sort. An indirect financial interest exists if a party transacting business with DCEA is an entity:
 - in which DCEA's board member (or a member of his or her immediate family) has a material financial interest;
 - (2) with which DCEA's board member (or a member of his or her immediate family) has a substantial business relationship; or
 - (3) of which DCEA's board member (or a member of his or her immediate family) is an officer, director, general partner.

Board members are prohibited from having a financial conflict of interest with DCEA. If a financial conflict of interest exists and is not eliminated, the board member must resign.

A direct or financial interest does not exist when an eligible board member or employee receives benefits or services through programs administered by DCEA. Board members or employees are not excluded from being clients of the Agency and receiving program services for which they are eligible; however, they should not receive preferential treatment in the nature or timing of these services.

IV. Use of CAA's Services, Property or Facilities for Personal Purposes.

No board member or employee shall make use of DCEA's services, property or facilities for any purpose that is not related to the Agency.

V. Political Activities.

No board member or employee of DCEA in the name of the Agency or under the color of the official capacity or authority of DCEA shall:

- (1) participate or become actively involved in any political campaign or in any other type of political activity, or
- (2) provide financial support for or make contributions to or for the benefit of any political candidate, political party, or political action committee or provide financial support for or make contributions in support of any other political objective.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, DCEA recognizes that each of its board members and employees has the right as a citizen to become involved in his or her individual capacity in the political process in Tennessee and on a national and local basis. Any such participation or involvement by any person in a political campaign or other type of political activity or any contribution to or any other financial support of a political candidate or any other type of political contribution or support shall only be carried on or provided in an individual capacity, consistent with all DCEA policies and procedures.

VI. Compliance with Code of Conduct.

Each board member and employee of DCEA shall receive a copy of the Code of Conduct. Each such person shall be required to complete the disclosure statement and also shall certify that they read the Code and agrees to comply with all standards and requirements set forth herein.

All employees will be given the Code of Conduct to read on their first day of work. They will be encouraged to ask questions about the Code as it pertains to their unique work situation. Board members will be given the Code upon their election to the Board of Directors and will be encouraged to ask questions.

Failure to comply with the Code of Conduct may result in warnings, probation and /or termination.

$\begin{array}{c} \text{DOUGLAS-CHEROKEE ECONOMIC AUTHORITY, INC.} \\ \underline{\text{CODE OF CONDUCT}} \end{array}$

I,	, hereby state that I have read the Code of Conduct CEA. I agree to comply with all provisions of the Code of Conduct I tenure with the Agency.
If I become aware of an actual or potential co Executive Director or to the Chair of the Boar	onflict of interest, I will notify and disclose the circumstances to the rd. I further certify that I:
Am not presently debarred, suspended, prop any federal department or Agency;	osed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded by
offense in connection with obtaining, attempt transaction or contract under a public transac	gment rendered against me for commission of fraud or a criminal ing to obtain, or performing a public (federal, state or local) ction, for violation of federal or state antitrust statutes or for bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false
Am not presently indicted for or otherwise cri local, with commission of any of the offenses	minally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (federal, state or above; and,
Have not had any public transactions (federa years prior to their application.	I, state or local) terminated for cause or default during the three
Signature	Date
Name:	
Position (Employee, Board Member or Policy	Council Member):
	nsactions, positions you hold (volunteer or otherwise), or ute to a conflict of interest between DCEA and your personal
please list the name of your employer. In adyour spouse) sit on. Also list any for-profit but officer or director, or a majority shareholder, immediate family member own; and list any in 1	
J	
I am am not a parent of a	a current or former Head Start child.
	above is true and complete to the best of my knowledge. I have Conduct of Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc.
Signature:	Date:

9.13 EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION IN COUNCILS AND MEETINGS

Some employees may wish to participate in meetings, groups, councils, boards, clubs, committees, etc., as a representative of their program or DCEA. Participation by the employee must be approved in advance by the supervisor and the Executive Director. All requests should be made in writing on the Meeting Request form found in the Appendix.

9.14 REQUESTS for FUNDS

Employees of the Agency who request funds, personnel, or other benefits for the Agency from units of government, agencies, or other organizations must do so only under the direction of the Executive Director.

9.15 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

Outside employment (that which is in addition to employment with DCEA) is subject to the following conditions:

- A. Such employment cannot constitute a conflict of interest with the employee's duties with DCEA.
- B. Such employment cannot interfere with the efficient performance of the person's duties as a DCEA employee.
- C. Such employment cannot involve the performance of duties which the employee should have performed as part of his/her employment with DCEA.
- D. Such employment cannot occur during the employee's regular DCEA working hours, unless approved by the Executive Director.
- E. Employees may not use paid or unpaid sick leave to perform work for another employer.

Failure to abide by this policy will bring immediate suspension without pay for up to five working days, during which the employee will be allowed to rectify the situation. If the situation is not brought in line with this policy during this period, the employee will be terminated.

9.16 OTHER RESTRICTIONS

To ensure orderly operations and provide the best possible work environment, DCEA expects employees to follow rules of conduct that will protect the interests and safety of all employees and the organization. It is not possible to list all forms of behavior that are considered unacceptable in the workplace and this list is not exhaustive. Other behavior may be grounds for discipline, up to and including discharge. The activities listed below are prohibited and are examples of infractions of rules of conduct that may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. Any employee engaging in one of these actions could be subject to disciplinary action, including dismissal.

- A. Unauthorized possession of firearms or explosive materials while on the job or while on DCEA premises.
- B. Failure to observe posted safety rules and regulations.
- C. Smoking in areas designated "No Smoking."
- D. Fighting, threatening violence in the workplace, or disorderly conduct while on the job or while on DCEA premises.
- E. Drinking or being under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs while on the job or while on DCEA premises. Possession, distribution, sale, transfer, or use of alcohol or illegal drugs in the workplace, while on duty, while on DCEA premises, or while operating employer-owned vehicles or equipment.
- F. Gambling on DCEA premises or while on the job.
- G. Submission of false or fraudulent service reports, time or mileage records, or any other report or records, or information on employment applications or resumes.
- H. Refusal to accept instructions including failure to perform work assigned and neglect of duties.
- I. Sleeping on the job.

- J. Violation of the corporal punishment/improper isolation rule (per Head Start/Early Head Start regulations).
- K. Conviction of child abuse or neglect by employees who work in Head Start/Early Head Start, or with children in other programs which have similar regulations.
- L. Misappropriation of Agency funds.
- M. Insubordination.
- N. Theft or inappropriate removal or possession of property.
- O. Excessive absenteeism.
- P. Unauthorized use of telephones, mail system or other employer-owned equipment or systems
- Q. Unauthorized disclosure of confidential information.
- R. Unsatisfactory performance or conduct
- S. Failure of drug screen.
- T. Violation of Employee Handbook or Code of Conduct.
- U. Provide false or fraudulent information to receive program services.

9.17 ALCOHOL and DRUG POLICY

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc., is committed to providing a safe work environment and to fostering the well-being and health of its employees. That commitment is jeopardized when any Douglas-Cherokee employee illegally uses drugs on or off the job, comes to work under their influence, possesses, distributes, or sells drugs in the workplace or abuses alcohol on the job. Therefore, each employee is required to sign the Agency policy regarding drug-related activity in the workplace during the orientation process.

It is the policy of Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc., to prohibit the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession or use of illegal drugs, narcotics and/or alcoholic beverages on Agency premises. Reporting for work under the influence of drugs or alcohol is also strictly forbidden. Any employee violating this standard shall be subject to discipline up to and including discharge.

Employees will be tested for drugs and/or alcohol after an on-the-job accident where there is very good reason to believe that employee drug or alcohol use is likely to have contributed to the incident.

Testing may occur when there is reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee is illegally using drugs or abusing alcohol and/or may be under the influence of drugs or alcohol at work. Reasonable suspicion is based on a belief that an employee is using or has used drugs or alcohol in violation of the employer's policy drawn from specific objective and articulable facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts in light of experience. Among other things, such facts and inferences may be based upon, but not limited to, the following:

- Observable phenomena while at work such as direct observation of substance abuse or of the physical symptoms or manifestations of being impaired due to substance abuse.
- Abnormal conduct or erratic behavior while at work or a significant deterioration in work performance.
- A report of substance abuse provided by a reliable and credible source.
- Evidence that an individual has tampered with any substance abuse test during his or her employment with the current employer.
- Information that an employee has caused or contributed to an accident while at work; or
- Evidence that an employee has used, possessed, sold, solicited, or transferred drugs while working or while on the employer's premises or while operating the employer's vehicle, machinery, or equipment.

As a condition of employment at DCEA all employees will agree to abide by this standard and to notify the Agency of any criminal drug statute conviction no later than five (5) days after such conviction. Any employee reporting to work under the influence of drugs, narcotics or alcohol is not to be permitted to enter DCEA premises. Any employee discovered to be under the influence while on the job will be required to leave the premises.

Substance abuse services are available through many insurance plans, including DCEA's health insurance plan. Some programs require drug and alcohol screens prior to and during program employment and participation.

9.18 NO-SMOKING POLICY

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority is strongly committed to maintaining and improving the health and well-being of all employees. It is, therefore, the Agency's policy that employees have the right to work in an environment free of the hazards of tobacco products. It is the policy of the Agency that we will provide a smoke-free working environment. Smoking, vaping, and using smokeless tobacco is not permitted inside any Agency facility, vehicle or within 25 feet of any Agency building entrance. This policy applies to all employees, visitors, contractors, and clients. Violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action for employees and may lead to removal from the premises for visitors or contractors.

9.19 HARASSMENT

We expect every person at Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority to be treated with fairness, respect, and dignity. Accordingly, any form of harassment related to an individual's race, color, gender (including sexual orientation and gender identity), religion, national origin, ethnicity, citizenship, age, marital status, veteran status, genetic information, disability, or any other legally protected characteristic is a violation of this policy and will be treated as a disciplinary matter.

For these purposes, the term harassment includes slurs and any other offensive remarks, jokes, graphic material, or other offensive verbal, written, or physical conduct.

Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and any other unwelcome or unbecoming verbal or physical conduct will not be tolerated. Neither submission to nor rejection of such conduct will be used as a basis for employment decisions.

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority is committed to maintaining a safe and healthy work environment and takes all appropriate health and safety precautions consistent with current medical knowledge. Accordingly, employees may not refuse to work with, cooperate with, withhold services from or otherwise harass, intimidate, demean, or isolate a co-worker because of a known or suspected disability or disease or because of a co-worker's association with a person with a disability or disease.

If you have any question about what constitutes harassing behavior, please ask your supervisor, or contact the Director of Human Resources for clarification.

We will take all steps necessary to prevent any form of harassment from occurring. All supervisors and managers are informed of this policy and have been instructed as to what constitutes proper and improper behavior. We are prepared to promptly take steps necessary to enforce this policy.

Violation of this policy by any employee will subject that employee to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. If you feel that you have been a victim of harassment by a coworker, member of management, vendor, visitor, or customer of this organization, or if you become aware of such behavior

around you, you are to contact your supervisor, the Human Resources Director, or any member of management with whom you feel comfortable discussing your concern.

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority will promptly investigate all complaints and will endeavor to handle these matters expeditiously and in a professional manner so as to protect the offended individual and other individuals providing relevant information. While DCEA will strive to maintain the highest degree of confidentiality possible, it may be necessary for DCEA to interview individuals who may have relevant knowledge of the facts underlying a complaint. When the situation is fully understood by management, prompt and appropriate action will be taken where warranted.

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority absolutely will not tolerate any retaliation against anyone for stepping forward with a concern or participating in any investigation regarding any type of harassment or discrimination.

9.20 TRAVEL & VEHICLE USAGE

Travel Reimbursement will be in accordance with the current applicable state travel regulations. All Agency programs will abide by the State of Tennessee Comprehensive Travel Regulations with the exception of #36 concerning per diem reimbursement. Any meals provided in any training or conference will not be reimbursed. Effective 7/1/16, continental breakfasts will count as a meal. Receptions will not count as a meal.

Please refer to the state travel regulations which may be found at https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/finance/documents/fa policies/policy8.pdf. Additional travel forms are on the DCEA website, www.douglascherokee.com. For out-of-state conferences, an amount up to the hotel conference rate may be paid for hotels.

There are some positions within the Agency which require employees to drive vehicles on the job. All employees who drive vehicles as a part of their job are expected to maintain a valid driver's license for the state in which they live and are expected to maintain a safe vehicle when they drive their own vehicles for work purposes. Employees must also provide evidence of current automobile insurance at the first of each year, beginning 1-1-10. It is the responsibility of the employee to notify their supervisor if they no longer have a valid driver's license or insurance. Refer to Sec. 3.9 for additional requirements for employees who drive Agency owned vehicles.

Employees may not drive their own vehicles for work purposes during work time if they do not have liability insurance on their vehicle and a valid driver's license.

Only Agency employees may drive Agency owned vehicles. The vehicles may be used only for appropriate program use. Refer to Sec. 3.9 for additional requirements for employees who drive Agency owned vehicles. For mileage reimbursement payments on days that do not involve overnight travel, the employee's daily commute mileage will be deducted from the total miles driven on that day and mileage reimbursement at the current state rate will be available for the remaining miles.

No employee or agent of the Agency should ever engage in the use of a mobile phone or other handheld mobile device while operating a DCEA vehicle.

9.21 TELEPHONE USAGE

All long-distance calls are coded to the appropriate departmental code on the DCEA telephone system. All calls pertaining to Agency business must be charged to DCEA's business number.

All long-distance telephone calls charged to a DCEA number must be directly related to Agency business. Long-distance calls concerning an employee's personal business must be charged to the employee's home telephone number.

Program Directors are expected to have cell phones capable of voice mail, (either personal or work supplied) active during work hours and to check it periodically during off duty.

Agency furnished cell phones are to be used for business purposes only. Executive Director approval is required before acquiring Agency cell phones.

9.22 INVENTORY and RESTRICTIONS on PROPERTY

All property with a unit cost in excess of \$5,000 purchased with federal funds is classed as federal property and subject to federal regulations in regard to its use, transfer, and repayment for loss or damage. Likewise, all property with a unit cost in excess of \$5000 purchased with state funds is classified as state property and subject to state regulations in regard to its use, transfer and repayment for loss or damage. All property is to be used for its intended purpose. The Program Director must approve any alteration or removal of property from the assigned location and is responsible for all property shown on the inventory. The Executive Director must approve disposal of capitalized property.

A capitalized property inventory will be maintained by the Agency. This inventory will be organized by program and funding source. The capitalized property inventory will be reviewed and updated at least every other year.

9.23 LISTING of NON-CONSUMABLE ITEMS

A listing of non-consumable items (desks, storage buildings etc.) will be maintained on items with unit cost exceeding \$500. Items with lower unit costs may be listed at the discretion of the Program Director or the accounting office.

Each Program Director is responsible for updating the Central Office listing for these non-consumable property or sensitive minor equipment items. The information will be entered into a computerized file in the accounting office. Program directors are responsible for reconciling their listing to reflect items purchased and/or disposed of during the fiscal year. Reconcilements should be performed at least annually. Program directors are responsible for all items listed on the non-consumable equipment listing.

Should a program no longer need an item on their listing, the accounting office should be notified. Program Directors should not authorize transfer to any person or program. A listing of these items will be maintained. Before purchase of non-consumable items, the listing of items available for transfer should be checked.

9.24 PURCHASE of PROPERTY and SERVICES

Materials, equipment, and services purchased must be necessary for the efficient and effective operation of the Agency and cannot be for an employee's personal use. Materials, equipment and services must be purchased in accordance with the Agency's purchasing procedures.

Any purchase made or cost incurred without proper authorization may be regarded as indebtedness against the individual making or authorizing the purchase.

9.25 WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY (updated 7/1/2022)

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc. (DCEA) is committed to lawful and ethical behavior in all of its activities and requires employees and Board members to act in accordance with all applicable laws,

regulations and policies and to observe high standards of business and personal ethics in the conduct of their duties and responsibilities.

This policy is intended to encourage and enable employees and Board Members to raise serious concerns within the organization for investigation and appropriate action. With this goal in mind, no person who, in good faith, reports a concern shall be threatened, discriminated against or otherwise subject to retaliation or adverse employment consequences as a result of such report. A person who retaliates against someone who has reported a concern in good faith is subject to discipline up to and including dismissal. Any whistleblower who believes they are being retaliated against should contact the Fiscal Officer or the Chairperson of the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors immediately. The right of a whistleblower for protection against retaliation does not include immunity for any personal wrongdoing that is alleged and investigated.

A whistleblower as defined by this policy is an employee or Board Member of Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc. (DCEA), who reports an activity that they consider to be illegal, fraudulent, dishonest or in violation of the Code of Conduct. Note that an employee who is a whistleblower under the definition of DCEA policy may or may not be a whistleblower under any law, regulation, or statute. This definition is for internal operating purposes only. The whistleblower is not responsible for investigating the activity or for determining fault or corrective measures.

The types of concerns that should be reported include, for purposes of illustration and without being limited to, the following:

- providing false or misleading information on the Agency's financial documents, grant reports, tax returns or other public documents;
- providing false information to or withholding material information from the Agency auditors, accountants, lawyers, directors or other representatives responsible for ensuring Agency compliance with fiscal and legal responsibilities;
- embezzlement, private benefit or misappropriation of funds;
- material violation of Agency policy, including among other, confidentiality, conflict of interest, whistleblower, ethics and document retention;
- discrimination based on race, gender, sex, disability, age;
- Retaliation by any employee towards another employee for reporting alleged harassment or discrimination:
- concealing any of the above or similar actions.

If an employee has knowledge of or a concern of illegal or dishonest fraudulent activity, or a suspected activity, the employee should contact the Fiscal Officer or the Chairperson of the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors. The names are listed on the DCEA website at www.douglascherokee.com under the tabs for "Board of Directors" and "Administration".

Anyone reporting a concern must act in good faith and have reasonable grounds for believing the matter raised is a serious violation of law or policy or a material accounting or auditing matter. The act of making allegations that prove to be unsubstantiated and that prove to have been made maliciously, recklessly or with the foreknowledge that the allegations are false, will be viewed as a serious disciplinary offense and may result in discipline, up to and including dismissal.

Whistleblower protections are provided in two important areas – confidentiality and against retaliation. Insofar as possible, the confidentiality of the whistleblower will be maintained. However, identity may have to be disclosed to conduct a thorough investigation, to comply with the law and to provide accused individuals their legal rights of defense.

The Chairperson of the Finance Committee and the Fiscal Officer are responsible for investigating and coordinating corrective action. If the Fiscal Officer and/or the Chairperson of the Finance Committee are involved in the allegation, the Executive Director (or the person designated by the Executive Director), and/or the Chairman of the Board, will take the place of the Fiscal Officer in the investigation. All reports will be promptly investigated, and appropriate corrective action will be taken if warranted by the investigation. The investigation will follow the specific steps listed in the Fraud Policy section of the DCEA Accounting and Financial Policies and Procedures Manual. DCEA will not disclose the results of the investigation to anyone other than those who have a legitimate need to know.

Notification of Employee Protections under 41 U.S.C. 4172 (updated 10/5/17)

No employee may be discharged, demoted, or otherwise discriminated against for disclosing information that an employee reasonably believes is evidence of:

- 1. Gross mismanagement or waste of a federal contract or grant;
- 2. An abuse of authority relating to a federal contract or grant (defined as an arbitrary and capricious exercise of authority that is inconsistent with the mission of the federal awarding Agency concerned or the successful performance of a contract or grant of such Agency);
- 3. A substantial and specific danger to public health or safety; or
- 4. A violation of law, rule or regulation related to a federal contract (including the competition for, or negotiation of, a contract) or grant.

An employee may disclose suspected wrongdoing described above to any of the following:

- 1. The Inspector General of the federal awarding Agency (for example, the Office of Inspector General of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services);
- 2. An employee of the federal awarding Agency who is responsible for contract or grant oversight or management;
- 3. A management official or other employee of Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority, Inc. who has the responsibility to investigate, discover or address misconduct; or
- 4. An authorized official of the U.S. Department of Justice or other law enforcement Agency, a Member of Congress or representative of a committee of Congress, or the Government Accounting Office (GAO).

If an employee believes that they have been subjected to reprisal for disclosing wrongdoing described above, the employee may submit a complaint to the federal awarding Agency's Office of Inspector General within three years of the date on which the alleged reprisal took place.

9.26 ID BADGE POLICY

DCEA employees will be issued an identification badge during orientation. Each employee is required to wear the identification badge in plain view at any time you are representing the Agency outside your normal office. Some examples are when making a home visit, when representing the Agency in a meeting or if your workplace is not a DCEA facility, such as a school.

If your ID badge is lost or stolen, you must obtain a replacement through the Human Resources Department. Upon termination, employees will be required to return ID badges to Human Resources.

9.27 RETALIATION POLICY (Updated 10/5/17)

Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority will not tolerate any retaliation against anyone who steps forward with a concern or participates in any investigation regarding any type of harassment or discrimination, reports suspected misconduct in good faith, reports compliance issues or provides information or assists in an investigation.

This policy is intended to encourage and enable employees to raise serious concerns within the organization for investigation and appropriate action. With this goal in mind, no person who, in good faith, reports a concern shall be threatened, discriminated against or otherwise subject to retaliation or adverse employment consequences as a result of such report. A person who retaliates against someone who has reported a concern in good faith is subject to discipline up to and including dismissal. Any employee who believes they are being retaliated against should contact the Fiscal Officer or the Human Resources Director.

SECTION 10 - EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS

10.1 INTRODUCTION

This section applies to administrative staff, supervisory staff, and non-administrative staff. The employee's strengths, weaknesses, and necessary improvements are discussed in each evaluation. Evaluations are confidential and must be treated as such by supervisors and employees.

10.2 EVALUATORS (updated 10/5/17)

Each employee will be evaluated by their supervisor. If an employee has more than one immediate supervisor, each of these persons must participate in the entire evaluation process. If the administrative staff feels it is necessary, additional supervisory staff may be involved in an employee's evaluation. The Executive Director will evaluate the Fiscal Officer, the Director of Human Resources, and all Program Directors. The Board Personnel Committee and the Board Chairperson will evaluate the Executive Director.

Evaluations for program staff must be approved by the Program Director. If the Program Director is preparing the evaluations, they must be approved by the Executive Director.

10.3 SCHEDULE

Employees who are in their orientation period are evaluated after six months in the position. Supervisors should also hold frequent formal and informal conferences with employees during the orientation period. The evaluation should include instructions on the improvements required to remain in the position. The six-month evaluation is used as the basis for the decision to place the employee on regular status, terminate the employee or place the employee on disciplinary probation. Employees on regular status are evaluated at least once per year, on the anniversary of the six-month evaluation or other date as deemed appropriate by administrative staff. Annual evaluations are used to keep employees informed of their progress, point out changes in job performance, and recommend improvements. If administrative staff feels that it is necessary, employees may be evaluated more frequently.

Employees on disciplinary probation may be evaluated monthly. These evaluations will be used to determine if the employee is to return to regular status or be dismissed. Supervisors will also hold frequent formal and informal conferences with employees on disciplinary probation to prepare the employee for these evaluations. Employees who are in the orientation period or on disciplinary probation may be evaluated before the end of their orientation/probationary period if the administrative staff determines the necessity.

10.4 PROCESS OF EVALUATION

A. The evaluation form (found on the DCEA website) used will measure the employee's work habits, relationship to clients and staff, and performance of the job duties. The form will allow the employee to agree or disagree with each rating and to write comments in response to the

evaluation. Administrative staff is responsible for developing evaluation forms for each job within the Agency. The Director of Human Resources must approve each form before it is used.

- B. The supervisors performing the evaluation will meet privately to prepare the evaluation. Before this meeting, information pertinent to the evaluation will be collected from the employee and the employee's staff, colleagues, and clients, if these contacts can be made with minimal cost and inconvenience. The supervisors will use responsible judgment in determining the information to be included in the evaluation. The supervisors will agree on the items included in the evaluation. Both strengths and weaknesses will be discussed in each evaluation.
- C. Any recommendations to change an employee's salary or status must be approved by the Executive Director before the conference with the employee.
- D. The supervisor should meet personally with the employee and discuss the evaluation in detail. The employee will be asked to agree or disagree with each rating and to write comments in response to the evaluation if desired. Supervisors are responsible for maintaining a productive atmosphere in all evaluations, and employees being evaluated are encouraged to approach the evaluation with an open mind and a willingness to learn and improve their job performance.
- E. After the discussion, the supervisor will sign and date the evaluation. The employee will also be asked to sign the evaluation, to acknowledge that the evaluation has been discussed and that its contents are understood. The employee will be given a copy of the evaluation, and the original will be filed in the employee's personnel file. If an employee refuses to sign the evaluation, the supervisors present will act as witnesses. They will sign and date the evaluation as proof that the discussion was held. The fact that the employee refused to sign the evaluation and the reasons for this refusal will be noted on the evaluation. Employees will have five (5) working days to comment on the evaluation in writing if they choose to do so.
- F. If the employee corrects a problem discussed in an evaluation, this change will be noted in the next evaluation or in a memorandum to the employee (with a copy to the personnel file).

SECTION 11 - DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

11.1 INTRODUCTION

Disciplinary action is a process for dealing with job-related behavior or performance that does not meet expected and communicated conduct and/or performance standards. The purpose is to assist the employee to understand that a problem or an opportunity for improvement exists. Action should be consistent with the seriousness of the violation.

Disciplinary action can begin at any step in the policy if the Executive Director feels that the nature of the violation justifies a change from the normal disciplinary policy. Depending on the situation, any step may be repeated, omitted, or taken out of sequence. Each case is considered on an individual basis. Program Directors should consult with the Executive Director if they are facing a disciplinary situation that they believe warrants deviation from the policy. All formal disciplinary actions should be conducted in the presence of a supervisor and a witness. Copies of all warnings, reprimands and disciplinary actions should be placed in the employee's personnel file.

Every disciplinary action should be clear and direct communication between the employee and his/her immediate supervisor. This communication should include a meeting between the employee and the

supervisor to discuss the nature of the problem and how it affects the department's operations. During the meeting, the supervisor should make it clear to the employee that there are specific performance/behavioral expectations, they have failed to meet the outlined expectations, and a corrective action is being issued. It should also be clearly established what the employee must do within a defined time period to avoid more serious disciplinary actions.

All disciplinary actions should be documented in writing and should contain the signatures of the supervisor, the employee, and the date. The documentation should include specifics of the problem, steps necessary to correct the problem, a time frame for correcting the problem, and further steps which will be taken if the problem is not corrected. For steps 2 through 5, the original document should be placed in the employee's file.

The employee's signature on the documentation of the disciplinary action does not indicate agreement with the action taken, it acknowledges receipt of the action. If the employee refuses to sign, it should be noted by the supervisor that a copy was given to the employee, but they refused to sign.

The supervisor should hold periodic follow-up conferences with the employee to discuss the employee's progress. If the warning is not part of a performance evaluation and is not followed by the next step within six months, the warning will not be used for further disciplinary action. If the employee corrects a problem discussed in the evaluation, the changes will be noted in the next evaluation or in a memorandum to the employee (with a copy to the personnel file).

11.2 TYPES OF ACTION

Steps in the disciplinary policy may include these:

- Step 1 Counsel the employee about performance and ascertain his/her understanding of requirements. Discuss and investigate the issue/problem and discuss the appropriate solution with the employee. Ascertain whether there are any issues contributing to the poor performance or behavior that are not immediately obvious to the supervisor.
- Step 2 Verbally reprimand the employee for the performance/behavioral problem.
- Step 3 Provide a written warning for the problem.
- Step 4 Suspension or disciplinary probation.
- Step 5 Termination.

11.3 SUSPENSION

An employee may be suspended for one to five working days, or part of a day, with or without pay. Any deduction against salary will be done in accordance with applicable law. The Program Director or other supervisory administrative staff will impose suspension, and the Executive Director must be notified. Two suspensions are grounds for dismissal.

The Executive Director may place an employee on administrative leave for up to 30 days with or without pay, when it is determined by the Executive Director that it is in the best interest of the Agency to do so.

11.4 DISCIPLINARY PROBATION

The Executive Director must approve disciplinary probation in advance. Disciplinary probation may last up to 90 days. The employee will be evaluated monthly while on disciplinary probation. Employees are not allowed to take annual leave while they are on disciplinary probation. (Refer to 8.2E)

- A. An employee is placed on Disciplinary Probation if their job-related behavior does not meet expected and communicated performance standards. This probation will be for not more than 90 days. This status will be reflected on a Personnel Action Form.
- B. During the Disciplinary Probation period, the employee's immediate supervisor, the Program Director, and any other of the employee's supervisors chosen by the Program Director will hold conferences frequently with the employee to discuss improvements in job performance. Written evaluations will be performed at least monthly while an employee is on Disciplinary Probation.
- C. The employee's evaluation at the end of the Disciplinary Probation period will be submitted to the Executive Director prior to its being discussed with the employee. Based on the recommendation of the Program Director or other applicable supervisory personnel, the Executive Director will take one of the following actions concerning the employee and the action will be recorded on the written evaluation and on a Personnel Action Form:
 - 1. transfer to regular status, if the employee's job performance has improved enough to be satisfactory and if the employee's continued employment with the Agency is desirable, or
 - 2. dismissal, if the employee's job-related behavior has not improved to a satisfactory level.
- D. An employee on Disciplinary Probation may be terminated before the end of the probationary period at the Agency's discretion.
- E. Employees are not eligible to take annual leave while on disciplinary probation (see Sec. 8.2E). An employee who is placed on disciplinary probation during the year and is unable to take their earned annual leave prior to the end of the calendar year, may request to carry over the unused annual leave into the following year. The employee should make a request to their immediate supervisor and Program Director. Each program should review the request on a case by case basis and must work with the employee to develop a plan as to when the leave will be taken. The Executive Director must approve the request. Any annual leave carried into the following year and not taken by the end of the year will be lost. 8.4E does not apply to employees who may take FMLA while on disciplinary probation. Employees on FMLA are required to use their available sick or annual leave.
- F. No salary increases, including cost of living adjustments, are allowed while on Disciplinary Probation.

Please refer to Section 4 for allowances and restrictions during disciplinary probation.

SECTION 12 - EMPLOYEE COMPLAINT PROCEDURE

Your complaints or problems are a concern to the Agency. It is the policy of DCEA to hear employee problems or complaints and to give full consideration to them. If you follow these steps, no one will criticize or penalize you in any way. Remember, the only way we can help you answer your questions or solve your problems is for you to tell us about them. This procedure does not preclude making complaints or reports under DCEA's policies against discrimination, harassment, and/or other policy violations and also does not preclude compliance with Head Start / Early Head Start regulations. This procedure cannot be used for matters related to hiring, termination, promotion, demotion, evaluations, or discipline.

In order for the complaint process to work properly, the complaint should include your name, names of the persons involved and the details of the complaint. Please be advised that every attempt will be made to maintain the highest level of confidentiality possible with the information provided. Any complaint that is not filed or processed in accordance with the policy may not be considered. The Agency discourages bypassing the steps and strongly discourages going directly to the Board of Directors with a complaint. Anonymous information or unsigned letters given to the Board of Directors will not be disregarded, but the ability to address or investigate problems or complaints is much more difficult and, therefore, anonymous information or unsigned letters are discouraged.

- 1. If you have a complaint to make or if you feel that any action by your employer or supervisor is unjust, go to your immediate supervisor about it. Be sure to talk with your supervisor within two (2) consecutive workdays. If the problem or complaint you have is with your supervisor, you may omit Step 1 and go directly to Step 2.
- 2. If you have not received a satisfactory answer from your immediate supervisor, you will be allowed five (5) working days to refer your problem in writing to your Program Director. Your Program Director will give you an answer within five (5) working days of receiving the written complaint.
- 3. If you are not satisfied with the recommendation provided by your Program Director, you will have an additional five (5) working days to request an appointment for a personal interview with the Executive Director, along with the Human Resources Director, who will discuss the problem with you and review all aspects of it thoroughly. The Executive Director will respond within five (5) working days of the personal interview. Any decision rendered by the Executive Director must be regarded as final and binding.

Please remember that the purpose of this complaint procedure is to provide an opportunity to clear up any problems or complaints.

SECTION 13 - TERMINATION

13.1 RESIGNATION

When an employee resigns from a job with DCEA, a written resignation should be submitted to the appropriate administrative staff member. DCEA would appreciate having a minimum of two weeks' notice to give DCEA an opportunity to make needed adjustments within the program. A separation notice should be given to the employee, and a Personnel Action Form will be processed. Annual leave will be paid as explained in Section 8.2. The exiting employee will be given an opportunity to complete an exit interview. Documentation will be kept, and these items will be covered:

- 1. Discussion of the reason for the resignation;
- 2. Discussion of the status of the job the employee is leaving, including what work needs to be done and suggestions for improvement;
- 3. Submission of reports;
- 4. Collection of all equipment and supplies belonging to DCEA, such as keys, manuals and desk supplies;
- 5. Discussion of conversion to an individual health and life insurance policy and conversion of retirement benefits;
- 6. Other topics that are necessary for the individual position.

Employment ends on the last day of active work, except for those employees in lay-off status who later decide to resign or retire. The end date for them will be the date of their resignation or retirement.

13.2 DISMISSAL

Termination of employment is an inevitable part of personnel activity within any organization, and many of the reasons for termination are routine. Some violations of rules may cause the Executive Director to decide that immediate dismissal is necessary without going through the normal disciplinary procedures. Please refer to the list under Section 9.16 for reasons which could lead to dismissal.

Other reasons for dismissal are also possible. The steps in the above procedures may be changed at any time and begin at any step, if the Executive Director feels the nature of the violation justifies a change from the normal disciplinary procedures. The decision of the Executive Director concerning dismissal is final. Employment ends on the last day of active work, except for those employees in lay-off status who later decide to resign or retire. The end date for them will be the date of their resignation or retirement.

A separation notice should be given to the employee, an exit interview conducted, and a Personnel Action Form should be processed. Annual leave will be paid as explained in Section 8.2.

13. 3 LAY-OFF

A. General

A lay-off or reorganization may be necessary because of lack of work or funds. Types of lay-off are:

- reduction in force (RIF) and reorganization
- closing of program
- Lay-off option explained in Section 2.2E

The decision to lay-off employees will be made by the Executive Director. The Policy Council will also approve the lay-off of Head Start / Early Head Start employees, except for the summer lay-off (under the Lay-off Option), which is automatic. Except for employees hired under the Lay-off option in Section 2, persons laid off for more than 66 working days who desire additional employment with Douglas-Cherokee Economic Authority will follow the hiring procedure for new employees. Annual leave will be paid as explained in Sec. 8.2. Employment ends on the last day of active work, except for those employees in lay-off status who later decide to resign or retire. The end date for them will be the date of their resignation or retirement.

B. Reduction in Force and Reorganization

A reduction in force or reorganization will apply when funds or work are reduced requiring the lay-off of persons in positions funded by a grant program or within the administrative staff. These procedures will not apply to temporary employees.

The Executive Director and other appropriate staff members will draft a plan concerning the affected area and positions to be abolished. All employees in the affected jobs will be notified. They will be considered for other positions within the Agency, if available. A separation notice will be given to each employee and a Personnel Action Form will be processed.

13.4 RETIREMENT

A separation notice should be given to the retiring employee, an exit interview provided, and a Personnel Action Form should be processed. Annual leave will be paid as explained in Section 8.2. If a retirement plan is available, the process for obtaining these benefits will be explained. TCRS member employees who terminate due to retirement shall have all unused accumulated sick leave credited toward retirement. Employment ends on the last day of active work, except for those employees in lay-off status who later decide to resign or retire. The end date for them will be the date of their resignation or retirement.

Retirement gifts are generally presented to employees who retire from DCEA according to the schedule below. These awards apply only to continuous years of service and are given subject to the availability of program funds.

- **Ten to Twenty Years of Service with Douglas-Cherokee**. May receive a lump-sum payment not to exceed \$100.00.
- Twenty to Thirty Years of Service with Douglas-Cherokee May receive a lump-sum payment not to exceed \$250.00.
- **Thirty or More Years of Service with Douglas-Cherokee.** May receive a lump-sum payment not to exceed \$500.00.

This policy does not apply to temporary employees or to substitutes. Any function for an employee retiring with less than 10 years of service will be paid for at the expense of the program (where program funds will allow) or by the employees of that program.

13.5 DEATH

If the death of an employee should occur, the Agency will work with the family to make sure that paychecks are handled properly and that the proper documents are filed for the employee's family to receive death benefits, if applicable. Annual leave will be paid to the employee's estate under the guidelines in Section 8.2.